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HIGHLIGHTS
HFA’s fi nancial achievements in the year to 30 June, 2007, were underpinned by strong 
growth in Assets Under Management and strong investment performance. Total AUM 
increased 48% to $3.88 billion which resulted in a 71% increase in management fee 
revenue to $36 million. Strong investment performance drove an increase in performance 
fee revenue, which was up 186% on the previous year. Combined with a reduction in the 
management fee paid to Lighthouse Investment Partners LLC, total Net Operating Income 
was up 111% to $74.6 million. 

PRODUCT DIVERSITY 
The historical performance of HFA’s diverse suite of investment products which deliver low 
volatility and quality returns will ensure we continue to grow assets under management. 
The introduction of further structured products will only increase this diversity.
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PERFORMANCE HIGHLIGHTS

$M 30 June 2007 Actual
30 June 2007 

Prospectus Forecast % Change

Operating revenue 74.6 49.0 52%

Operating EBIT 29.1 20.0 46%

NPAT 20.3 13.9 46%

EPS (cents per share) 10.05c 6.9c 46%

Dividend per share 8.1c1 4.5c 80%

30 June 2007 Actual 30 June 2006 Actual % Change

Assets Under Management (AUM) $3.88 billion $2.63 billion 48%

Funds Under Management (FUM) $2.29 billion $1.56 billion 47%

1 Comprises 1.5c special dividend, 2.6c interim dividend and 4c fi nal dividend.

INVESTMENT INTEGRITY
HFA’s funds of funds are highly rated by independent research agencies, are recommended 
or approved for investment by 375 fi nancial planner dealer groups representing over 9,000 
fi nancial advisers and are available on more than 20 portfolio services.

GROWING INDUSTRY
HFA is well positioned to benefi t from the continued growth in the Australian wealth 
management sector and the increased allocation of assets to absolute return funds.
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It is with great pleasure that I am able to deliver this 
second report as Chairman of HFA Holdings Limited. The 
year to 30 June, 2007, represents our fi rst full year as a 
listed public company and I am happy to report we have 
once again met and exceeded the expectations outlined to 
shareholders both in our Prospectus and since our fl oat. 

FINANCIALLY STRONG
In the year under review HFA achieved a net profi t after tax 
of $20.3 million. This was up 288% on the previous year and 
substantially above our prospectus forecast of $13.9 million. 
Total operating revenue for the year was $74.6 million while 
growth in overall expenses to approximately $15.2 million 
refl ected the growth in the business over the year. The net profi t 
after tax equates to basic earnings per share of 10.05 cents, an 
increase of 139% over the previous year.

The results also refl ect the continued growth in assets under 
management (AUM) which at the end of the year exceeded 
$3.8 billion, up 48% on the previous year and up 9% on our 
prospectus forecast of $3.56 billion. The growth in AUM is a 
good indication of HFA’s ability to develop and market cutting-
edge absolute return products which are appealing to an 
increasingly wider audience. 

Growth in AUM throughout 2007 was also the result of 
increasing recognition of absolute return funds as a smarter way 
to manage money. The ongoing volatility in equity markets has 
meant that absolute return funds, with their low correlation to 
equity markets and their ability to deliver consistent returns, are 
gaining greater prominence within the investment community.

A fully franked fi nal dividend of 4.0 cents per 
share has been declared and will be paid on 28 
September, 2007. This fi nal dividend, combined 
with the interim dividend of 2.6 cents per share 
and a special dividend of 1.5 cents per share, 
provides shareholders with a total dividend of 
8.1 cents per share for the year.

STRENGTH AND OPPORTUNITY
The HFA brand continues to be one of the most respected within 
the Australian wealth management industry and it is a position 
we intend to retain. For many years HFA has been regarded as 
a leading light in the development of the absolute return fund 
management industry in Australia. 

We are committed to growing and improving our business 
continually by focussing on our core strengths. These strengths 
are best categorised as product development, product 
distribution and product performance. By producing investment 
products based on the feedback of our clients, marketing those 
products through ever-expanding distribution networks and 
ensuring those products deliver on expectations, we will ensure 
continued growth. 

HFA also stands to benefi t from the ongoing growth of the 
wealth management industry in Australia. The growth of this 
industry shows little sign of slowing due to Australia’s economic 
prosperity and the strong infl ows of investment funds from 
government mandated superannuation contributions. In addition, 
there is growing acceptance of alternative assets for a balanced 
portfolio which means alternative assets such as absolute return 
funds are likely to remain one of the fastest growing segments of 
the Australian wealth management industry.

PRODUCT DEVELOPMENT AND DISTRIBUTION
During the year HFA continued to build on its reputation for 
innovative product development with successful capital raisings 
for two new closed-ended funds, the HFA Partners Fund and 
the HFA Octane Global fund. Combined with the ongoing 
popularity of the HFA Diversifi ed Investments Fund and the HFA 
International Shares Fund we have built a diverse product range 
to satisfy a variety of investor needs.

In particular, the success of the HFA Octane Global Fund was a 
prime example of our ability to structure investment products 
which combine a number of elements - including capital 
protection, leveraging and lending – to provide the market with 
a product which met with tremendous demand.

We will continue to develop and enhance our funds to provide 
greater investor liquidity and useability which will open up HFA 
to an even broader base of investors. 

CHAIRMAN’S MESSAGE

A total commitment to enhancing the wealth 
of investors and consistently delivering on their 
expectations will ensure HFA is recognised as a global 
leader in fi nancial services and funds management.



However, developing innovative products is only the fi rst part 
of ensuring continued success. Distributing those products in 
a crowded market remains our greatest challenge. HFA has 
always been aware of the need to have experienced and stable 
sales and client service teams and this has been one of the 
reasons for our success in recent times. We are aware of the 
need to continue to enhance our already strong distribution 
capabilities and will be implementing a number of initiatives to 
achieve that objective. These initiatives are designed to increase 
the number of active fi nancial advisers that support HFA and 
to increase the volume of investment funds from existing 
supporters.

LIGHTHOUSE
Subsequent to the end of the fi nancial year, HFA announced 
the signing of a Merger Implementation Agreement (MIA) 
with US-based fund manager Lighthouse Investment Partners 
LLC. Under the terms of the MIA, both HFA and Lighthouse 
are currently working towards executing a Share Purchase 
Agreement to combine the two businesses. The merger 
represents an opportunity to build on the existing strong 
relationship between HFA and Lighthouse. 

THE FUTURE
The Board remains confi dent that management will continue 
building on the solid foundations that have been established 
over recent years. Directors believe HFA’s products provide 
investors with a genuine opportunity for wealth enhancement 
and preservation, and shareholders can expect the company’s 
organic growth to continue throughout the current year. 

On behalf of the Board I would like to thank shareholders 
for their support of our vision for HFA and to express our 
appreciation to all members of staff for their commitment and 
dedication.

Brett Howard 
Chairman
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WHO IS 
     HFA?

HFA is Australia’s leading researcher and manager of 
domestic and international absolute return investment funds. 
The company was established in 1998 with the goal of 
introducing the absolute return fund investment philosophy 
to the Australian retail investment market. From just a few 
staff and $24 million in assets under management in 2000, 
HFA now has more than 30 staff, nearly $4 billion in assets 
under management and suite of 12 separate investment 
products. HFA has offi ces in Sydney, Melbourne, Brisbane, 
Investor Support Executives in Perth and Hobart and access 
to specialist investment analysts in New York, Chicago and 
Florida.

DISTRIBUTION
HFA’s comprehensive and growing distribution network, a 
dedicated focus on the absolute return funds sector and 
a highly rated portfolio provides the company with a solid 
platform for future capital raisings. Experienced and stable 
sales and client services teams means HFA has the capacity to 
continue growing its product suite. 

STRUCTURED PRODUCTS 
HFA’s ability to develop structured investment products 
which utilise a variety of fi nancial tools including capital 
protection, leveraging and derivatives provides the company 
with market advantage. The success of the HFA Octane series 
investments and the HFA Partners Fund are indicative of the 
growing acceptance of these products in investors’ portfolio 
development.

INVESTMENT ADVISORS
HFA’s exclusive arrangement with United States fund of fund 
manager Lighthouse Investment Partners LLC gives investors 
confi dence their investments are being managed prudently 
and effi ciently. Lighthouse tracks the investment performance 
of over 4,000 absolute return and hedge funds operating 
worldwide and manages in excess of US$8 billion in assets. 
Through its relationship with Lighthouse, HFA has access to a 
broader range of investment managers, proprietary research 
and investment skills as well as access to industry networks 
and relationships.
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HFA INVESTMENT  

THE FUND OF FUND APPROACH
There are over 6,000 absolute return and hedge funds globally who pursue over 
20 different investment strategies. These strategies cover the full spectrum of 
conservative, moderate and high growth investing. A ‘Fund of Funds’ is a fund 
that mixes and matches individual funds.

Investing in a diversifi ed fund of funds can signifi cantly reduce exposure to 
individual strategy and manager risks while maintaining access to an investment 
that has proven its ability to protect capital and or profi t in market falls. The fund 
spreads its investments among many different funds. A fund of funds investment 
simplifi es the process of choosing individual absolute return funds or hedge funds 
and provides investors with the ability to diversify across several funds with a 
single investment.

The fund of fund approach has a number of key advantages over traditional 
managed funds:

Delivering consistently high returns with low volatility means 
taking a unique approach to investing. HFA has delivered 
strong investment performance for nearly 10 years due to its 
commitment to a unique investment process that focuses on 
clearly defi ned targets and intensive management.

HFA absolute return funds strive to achieve nominated target 
returns regardless of rising or falling markets. These returns 
are not guaranteed, however the HFA absolute return funds 
have proven their ability to protect capital in falling markets 
and to deliver profi ts in most market conditions.

Absolute Return Fund Traditional Managed Fund

Performance Expected to deliver returns 
relative to stated objective

Measured relative to index

Restrictions Use short selling and other 
strategies to accelerate 
performance or reduce 
volatility

Can be restricted in their use 
of short selling and derivatives

Protection Able to protect against 
declining markets by utilising 
various hedging strategies and 
can often generate positive 
returns even in declining 
markets

Limited in their ability to 
effectively protect portfolios 
against declining markets 
other than by going into 
cash or by shorting a limited 
amount of stock index futures

THE
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INVESTMENT INTEGRITY
The investment integrity of HFA’s investment products is recognised externally with research 
houses highly rating each major fund.

 Van Eyk Lonsec
Standard 
& Poor’s

Zenith InvestorWeb Aegis

HFA Diversifi ed 
Investments Fund

AA
Highly 

Recommended
4 star Recommended Strong Buy -

HFA International 
Shares Fund

-
Highly 

Recommended
3 star Recommended Strong Buy -

HFA Accelerator 
Plus Limited

Endorsed
Highly 

Recommended
- - Buy Recommended

 Van Eyk Lonsec
Standard 
& Poor’s

HFA Partners Fund - Recommended 4 star

HFA Octane 1 Endorsed -
Investment 

Grade

HFA Octane 2 Endorsed -
Investment 

Grade

HFA Octane 3 Endorsed -
Investment 

Grade

HFA Octane Asia Endorsed Recommended -

Octane Global - Recommended
Investment 

Grade

PRODUCTS AND PERFORMANCE 
HFA has built a diverse and growing range of both fund-of-funds and single manager 
products designed for retail, wholesale and institutional investors. The funds offer different 
investment strategies and exposure to the international and Australian investment markets.

PEAK PERFORMANCE 
HFA’s suite of absolute return and hedge funds 
aim to deliver a consistent “absolute” return 
to investors regardless of underlying market 
returns. The funds seek to deliver consistent 
and stable returns rather than focus on the 
magnitude of return as their key priority. 

* Since inception and after fees. Past performance is no indication of future performance. Further details of historical returns and indicative 
performance of the underlying funds can be found on the website at www.hfainvestments.com.au. 

PROCESS
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This statement outlines the main corporate governance 
principles and practices of HFA Holdings Limited. These comply 
with the ASX Corporate Governance Council recommendations, 
unless otherwise stated.

Board of Directors
ROLE OF THE BOARD
The Board’s primary role is the protection and enhancement of 
long-term shareholder value.

To fulfi l this role, the Board is responsible for the overall 
corporate governance of the consolidated entity including 
formulating its strategic direction, approving and monitoring 
capital expenditure, appointing, removing and creating 
succession policies for directors and senior executives, 
establishing and monitoring the achievement of management’s 
goals and ensuring the integrity of internal control and 
management information systems.

It is also responsible for approving and monitoring fi nancial and 
other reporting. Details of the Board’s charter is located on the 
Company’s website (www.hfaholdings.com.au).

The Board has delegated responsibilities for operation and 
administration of the Company to the chief executive offi cer 
and executive management. Responsibilities are delineated by 
formal authority delegations.

The chief executive offi cer has formal delegated authority for 
expenditure under $1,000,000. The service agreements of the 
chief executive offi cer and chief fi nancial offi cer outline formal 
delegated responsibilities and authorities.

BOARD PROCESSES
To assist in the execution of its responsibilities, the Board 
has established a number of Board committees including a 
Nomination Committee, a Remuneration Committee, and an 
Audit and Risk Committee. These committees have written 
Charters which outline the duties and responsibilities of each 
committee and which are reviewed on a regular basis. The 
Board has also established a framework for the management of 
the consolidated entity including a system of internal control, 
a business risk management process and the establishment of 
appropriate ethical standards and codes of conduct.

The framework includes:

internal controls (dual signatories, reconciliations, and • 
segregation of duties);

business risk management process (risk register, • 
compliance plan for operation of managed investment 
schemes, staff trading policies, and employee manual); 
and

ethical standards and codes of conduct (directors code • 
of conduct, employee code of conduct, and employee 
manual).

The Board currently determines a schedule of meetings at 
the beginning of each year. Additional meetings are held as 
required to address specifi c issues.

The agenda for meetings is prepared in conjunction with the 
chairperson, chief executive offi cer and company secretary. 
Standing items include the chief executive offi cer’s report, 
fi nancial reports, strategic matters, governance and compliance. 
Submissions are circulated in advance. Senior executives 
regularly report to the Board and are involved in Board 
discussions.

DIRECTOR EDUCATION
The consolidated entity has a process to educate new directors 
about the nature of the business, current issues, the corporate 
strategy and the expectations of the consolidated entity 
concerning performance of directors. Directors are encouraged 
to interact with management to gain a better understanding 
of business operations, and are given access to continuing 
education opportunities to update and enhance their skills and 
knowledge. 

INDEPENDENT PROFESSIONAL ADVICE AND 
ACCESS TO COMPANY INFORMATION
Each director has the right of access to all relevant Company 
information and to the Company’s executives and, subject 
to prior consultation with the Chairperson, may seek 
independent professional advice from a suitably qualifi ed adviser 
at the consolidated entity’s expense.  A copy of the advice 
received by the director is made available to all other members 
of the Board.

COMPOSITION OF THE BOARD
The names of directors of the Company in offi ce at the date of 
this report are set out in the Directors’ report. The composition 
of the Board is determined using the following principles:

a minimum of four directors, with a broad range of • 
expertise

a majority of non-executive directors• 

a non-executive independent director is appointed as • 
Chairperson

enough directors to serve on various committees without • 
overburdening the directors or making it diffi cult for them 
to fully discharge their responsibilities

An independent director is a director who is not a member of 
management (a non-executive director), is free of any business 
or other relationships that could materially interfere with, or 
could reasonably be perceived to materially interfere with, the 
exercise of their unfettered and independent judgment, and 
who:

is not a substantial shareholder of the Company and • 
holds less than fi ve per cent of the voting securities of the 
Company and is not an offi cer of, or otherwise associated, 
directly or indirectly, with a holder of more than ten per 
cent of the Company’s voting securities

has not within the last three years been employed in an • 
executive capacity by the Company or another group 
member, or been a director after ceasing to hold any such 
employment

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT
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within the last three years has not been a principal or • 
employee of a material professional adviser or a material 
consultant to the Company or another group member

is not a material supplier or customer of the Company • 
or another group member, or an offi cer of or otherwise 
associated, directly or indirectly, with a material supplier or 
customer

has no material contractual relationship with the Company • 
or another group member other than as a director of the 
Company

is free from any interest and any business or other • 
relationship which could, or could reasonably be perceived 
to, materially interfere with the director’s ability to act in 
the best interest of the Company.

The terms and conditions of the appointment and retirement of 
non-executive directors are set out in a letter of appointment, 
including expectations of attendance and preparation for all 
Board meetings, appointments to other boards, the procedures 
for dealing with confl icts of interest, and the availability of 
independent professional advice.

Committees
NOMINATION COMMITTEE
The duties and responsibilities of the nomination committee are 
outlined in the nomination committee charter.

The nomination committee is to advise the Board on matters 
relating to the composition and performance of the Board. 
Board candidates must stand for election at the next general 
meeting of shareholders. The nomination committee is also 
responsible for making recommendations regarding the 
appointment and removal of directors, having regard to an 
appropriate mix of skill sets and expertise.  The nomination 
committee also reviews performance of the Board, committees 
and key executives, reviews board succession plans, as well 
as overseeing the induction process for new directors and 
committee members.

The nomination committee’s nomination of existing directors for 
re-appointment is not automatic and is contingent on their past 
performance, contribution to the Company and the current and 
future requirements of the Board.  The nomination committee 
submits recommendations to the Board, which votes on them.  

The nomination committee comprised the following members 
during the period, all of whom were non-executive directors:

Mr Brett Howard (Chairperson) – Independent Non-• 
Executive

Mr Michael King – Non-Executive• 

Mr Paul Willis – Independent Non-Executive, resigned 5 • 
March 2007

The nomination committee charter requires that the nomination 
committee be comprised of three non-executive directors, 
the majority of which must be independent.  During the year, 
Mr Paul Willis resigned as a director of the Company, and 

consequently upon his resignation the membership of the 
nomination committee has not been in compliance with the 
requirements of the nomination committee charter or ASX 
Corporate Governance Principle 2.4.  The functions of the 
nomination committee will be undertaken by the Board until 
such time as Mr Paul Willis has been replaced.

Under its charter, the nomination committee meets bi-annually 
unless otherwise required.  The frequency of meetings and the 
attendance record of committee members is disclosed in the 
Directors Report.  

Further details of the nomination committee’s charter and 
policies, including those for appointing directors and senior 
executives, are available on the Company’s website.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE
The remuneration committee’s duties and responsibilities are 
outlined in the remuneration committee charter.

The remuneration committee reviews and makes 
recommendations to the Board on remuneration packages and 
policies applicable to the executive offi cers and directors of the 
Company and of other group executives for the consolidated 
entity. It is also responsible for reviewing and making 
recommendations in relation to share schemes, incentive 
performance packages, superannuation entitlements, retirement 
and termination entitlements, fringe benefi ts policies and 
professional indemnity and liability insurance policies.

The remuneration committee comprised the following members 
during the period:

Mr Brett Howard (Chairperson) – Independent Non-• 
Executive

Mr Michael King – Non-Executive• 

Mr John Morrison – Independent Non-Executive• 

The remuneration committee charter requires that the 
remuneration committee be comprised of three executive 
directors, the majority of which must be independent.

The chief executive offi cer is invited to remuneration committee 
meetings, as required, to discuss senior executives’ performance 
and remuneration packages but does not attend meetings 
involving matters pertaining to him.

The remuneration committee meets bi-annually and otherwise 
as required.  The frequency of meetings and the attendance 
record of committee members is disclosed in the Directors 
Report.  A summary of the remuneration committee’s charter is 
available on the Company’s website.

Details of remuneration of key personnel and non-executive 
directors is included in the Remuneration Report in the 
Directors’ Report.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT
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Remuneration policies
Compensation levels for key management personnel and 
secretaries of the Company and relevant key management 
personnel of the consolidated entity are competitively set to 
attract and retain appropriately qualifi ed and experienced 
directors and executives. 

The compensation structures explained below are designed to 
attract suitably qualifi ed candidates, reward the achievement 
of strategic objectives, and achieve the broader outcome of 
creation of value for shareholders. The compensation structures 
take into account:

the capability and experience of the key management • 
personnel;

the key management personnel’s ability to control the • 
relevant performance;

the consolidated entity’s performance; and• 

the amount of incentives within each key management • 
person’s compensation.

Compensation packages include a mix of fi xed compensation 
plus performance linked compensation which includes a short 
term incentive (STI) and a long term incentive (LTI). 

Fixed compensation consists of base compensation (which is 
calculated on a total cost basis and includes any FBT charges 
related to employee benefi ts including motor vehicles), as well as 
employer contributions to superannuation funds. Compensation 
levels are reviewed annually by the remuneration committee 
through a process that considers individual and overall 
performance of the consolidated entity. A senior executive’s 
compensation is also reviewed on promotion.

Short Term Incentives (STI)
STI’s are paid to senior executives and staff in the form of an 
annual cash bonus. The aim of such an arrangement is to 
recognise the contributions and achievements of individuals 
when business targets are achieved or exceeded. The KPIs will 
generally include measures relating to the consolidated entity 
and the individual, and include fi nancial, people, client service, 
strategy and risk measures as appropriate. The measures will be 
chosen as they directly align the individual’s reward to the KPIs of 
the consolidated entity and to its strategy and performance.

Other key management personnel may receive a discretionary 
bonus depending on their assessed performance during the 
previous year. 

The Board intends to introduce a formal STI scheme for the 2008 
fi nancial year. The amount of cash incentive will be based on a 
percentage of fi xed remuneration determined by the Board with 
reference to the individual’s role and responsibilities.

All cash incentives paid under the STI scheme will be subject to 
annual performance hurdles including both fi nancial and non-
fi nancial KPI’s of the nature outlined above. Payments will be on 
a sliding scale according to performance against the KPI’s.

Long Term Incentives (LTI)
The Company established employee share plans to assist in 
the attraction, retention and motivation of employees and 
key management personnel. An employee offer was made 
at the time of listing of the Company on the Australian Stock 
Exchange, and in addition to motivating retention of employees 
and management, was designed to recognise past contribution 
to the growth of HFA and efforts during the Initial Public 
Offering at the time of listing. It comprised the issue of new 
shares by the company for nil consideration. The grant date 
of the shares under the employee offer was 1 May 2006. 
Shares issued under the plans are restricted from being sold or 
transferred, until the earlier of three years from the admission 
date and the date on which the employee is no longer employed 
by the consolidated entity. Allocations under the employee offer 
were approved by the Board based on recommendations from 
the CEO, with length of service, seniority in the organisation and 
contribution to the success of the consolidated entity up to the 
time of IPO forming the basis of these recommendations.

The Board intends to introduce a LTI scheme  for the 2008 
fi nancial year. The basis of the LTI scheme will be the provision 
of options or performance rights, as determined by the Board, 
to eligible employees which will vest after three years if certain 
performance hurdles have been met. For the fi rst two years of 
scheme operation a transitional vesting period of 50% after 
two years and 50% after three years will apply. The value of any 
award made under the LTI scheme will be based on a percentage 
of fi xed remuneration determined by the Board with reference to 
the individual’s roles and responsibilities. The performance hurdle 
will be a relative Total Shareholder Return measure.

The employee offer and LTI provides long term incentive to 
employees and management to contribute to the long term 
profi tability and share price growth of the consolidated entity 
through a direct growth in the value of their shareholdings and 
potential future dividend streams.

AUDIT AND RISK COMMITTEE
The audit and risk committee has a documented charter 
approved by the Board. The committee members’ comprise a 
minimum of three non-executive directors, with a majority being 
independent. The Chairperson may not be the Chairperson of 
the Board. The committee advises on the establishment and 
maintenance of a framework of internal control and appropriate 
ethical standards for the management of the consolidated entity.

The members of the audit and risk committee during the year were:

Mr John Morrison (Chairperson) – Independent Non-• 
Executive

Mr Paul Willis – Independent Non-Executive Director, • 
resigned 5 March 2007

Mr Paul Manka – Non-Executive Director, resigned 18 June • 
2007

Mr Brett Howard – Independent Non-Executive Director, • 
appointed 25 July 2007 

Mr Michael King – Non-Executive Director, appointed 25 July • 
2007

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT
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During the year, Mr Paul Willis and Mr Paul Manka resigned 
as directors of the Company. Both of these non-executive 
directors were members of the audit and risk committee, and 
consequently upon their resignation the membership of the audit 
and risk committee was not in compliance with the requirements 
of the audit and risk committee charter or ASX Corporate 
Governance Principle 4.3. Following appointment of Mr Brett 
Howard and Mr Michael King the audit and risk committee 
membership is compliant with the Company’s audit and risk 
committee charter and ASX Corporate Governance Principle 4.3.  
No meetings of the audit and risk committee were held during 
the period that the committee’s membership was non-compliant.

At the discretion of the audit and risk committee, the external 
auditor and other members of the Board and management will 
be invited to audit and risk committee meetings.  The frequency 
of meetings and the attendance record of committee members is 
disclosed in the Directors Report.

The chief executive offi cer and the chief fi nancial offi cer declared 
in writing to the Board that the fi nancial records of the Company 
for the fi nancial year have been properly maintained, the 
Company’s fi nancial reports for the fi nancial year ended 30 June 
2007 comply with accounting standards and present a true and 
fair view of the Company’s fi nancial condition and operational 
results. This statement is required annually.

The audit committee’s charter is available on the Company’s 
website along with information on procedures for the selection 
and appointment of the external auditor, and for the rotation of 
external audit engagement partners.

The role of the Committee is to assist the Board in discharging 
its oversight responsibilities in relation to audit and risk matters. 
Responsibilities include:

Audit and fi nancial reporting
The committee is responsible for:

overseeing the fi nancial reporting process to ensure the • 
balance, transparency and integrity of published fi nancial 
reports;

reviewing the independent audit process (including • 
recommendations regarding the appointment and 
assessment of the performance of the external auditor);

setting the Group policy on the provision of non-audit • 
services and ensuring compliance with that policy;

providing advice to the Board as to whether the committee • 
is satisfi ed that the provision of non-audit services is 
compatible with the general standard of independence, 
and an explanation of why those non-audit services do;

not compromising audit independence, in order for the • 
Board to be in a position to make the statements required 
by the Corporations Act to be included in the Company’s 
Annual Report; and

providing recommendations as to the propriety of related • 
party transactions.

Risk management and internal controls
The committee’s functions in relation to risk management are:

reviewing the effectiveness of the internal control and risk • 
management framework and assessing its effectiveness at 
identifying, managing and monitoring key risks and making 
recommendations to the Board regarding the same; and

overseeing the process by which the CEO and CFO of the • 
company provides signoff to the Board that the fi nancial 
statements comply with relevant accounting standards 
and are true and fair; and that the company’s internal 
compliance and control systems have been functioning 
effi ciently and effectively throughout the year.

Compliance
The committee’s functions in relation to compliance are:

reviewing the company’s process for monitoring • 
compliance with laws and regulations affecting fi nancial 
reporting; and

considering and reporting to the Board any such other • 
matters as the Board may refer to the committee from time 
to time.

The Audit and Risk Committee reviews the performance of the 
external auditors on an annual basis and normally meets with 
them during the year to:

discuss the audit plans, identifying any signifi cant changes • 
in structure, operations, internal controls or accounting 
policies likely to impact the fi nancial statements and 
to review the fees proposed for the audit work to be 
performed;

review of the half-year and preliminary fi nal report prior to • 
lodgement with the ASX, and any signifi cant adjustments 
required as a result of the auditor’s fi ndings, and to 
recommend Board approval of these documents, prior to 
announcement of results;

review the draft annual and half-year fi nancial reports, and • 
recommend Board approval of the fi nancial report; and

review the results and fi ndings of the auditor, the adequacy • 
of accounting and fi nancial controls, and to monitor the 
implementation of any recommendations made.

Risk Management
OVERSIGHT OF THE RISK MANAGEMENT 
SYSTEM
The Board oversees the establishment, implementation, and 
annual review of the Company’s Risk Management System.  
Management has established and implemented the Risk 
Management System for assessing, monitoring and managing 
operational, fi nancial reporting, and compliance risks for the 
consolidated entity. The chief executive offi cer and the chief 
fi nancial offi cer are required to declare, in writing to the Board, 
that the fi nancial reporting risk management and associated 
compliance and controls have been assessed and found to be 
operating effi ciently and effectively. All risk assessments covered 
the whole fi nancial year and the period up to the signing of 
the annual fi nancial report for all material operations in the 
consolidated entity.  

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT
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RISK PROFILE
The Board periodically reviews the status of risk management 
policies and procedures aimed at ensuring risks are identifi ed, 
assessed and appropriately managed.  Each business operational 
unit is responsible and accountable for implementing and 
managing the standards required.

Major risks arise from such matters as product investment 
performance, interest rate and exchange rate movements, 
actions by competitors, counterparty risk, systems risk, 
government policy changes, fi nancial reporting, and purchase, 
development and use of information technology systems. 

RISK MANAGEMENT AND COMPLIANCE AND 
CONTROLS
The consolidated entity strives to ensure that its products are 
of a high standard. The Board is responsible for the overall 
internal control framework, but recognises that no cost-effective 
internal control system will preclude all errors and irregularities. 
The Board’s policy on internal control comprises the Company’s 
internal compliance and control systems, including:

Operating unit controls•  – Operating units confi rm 
compliance with fi nancial controls and procedures 
including information systems controls detailed in 
procedures manuals.

Functional speciality reporting•  – Key areas subject to 
regular reporting to the Board include Operations and 
Legal matters.

Investment appraisal•  – Guidelines for capital expenditure 
include annual budgets, detailed appraisal and review 
procedures, levels of authority, and due diligence 
requirements where businesses are being acquired or 
divested.

Comprehensive practices have been established to ensure:

Compliance with fi nancial services regulation;• 

fi nancial exposures are controlled, including the use of • 
derivatives.  Further details of the Company’s policies 
relating to interest rate management, forward exchange 
rate management and credit risk management are 
included in note 21 of the fi nancial statements;

business transactions are properly authorised and • 
executed;

the quality and integrity of personnel (see below);• 

fi nancial reporting accuracy and compliance with the • 
fi nancial reporting regulatory framework (see below); and

environmental regulation compliance (see below).• 

Quality and integrity of personnel
Written confi rmation of compliance with policies is obtained 
from all operating units. Formal appraisals are conducted 
at least annually for all employees. Training and development 
and appropriate remuneration and incentives with 
regular performance reviews create an environment of 
cooperation and constructive dialogue with employees and 
senior management.

Financial reporting
The chief executive offi cer and the chief fi nancial offi cer are 
required to declare, in writing to the Board that the Company’s 
fi nancial reports are founded on a sound system of risk 
management and internal compliance and control which 
implements the policies adopted by the Board.

Monthly actual results are reported to directors against forecasts 
for the year.

Environmental Regulation
The consolidated entity’s operations are not subject to 
any signifi cant environmental regulation under either 
Commonwealth or State legislation. However, the Board 
believes that the consolidated entity has adequate systems in 
place for the management of its environmental requirements 
and is not aware of any breach of those environmental 
requirements as they apply to the consolidated entity.

Ethical standards
All directors, managers and employees are expected to act 
with the utmost integrity and objectivity, striving at all times to 
enhance the reputation and performance of the consolidated 
entity. Every employee has a nominated supervisor to whom 
they may refer any issues arising from their employment.  The 
Board reviews the employee code of conduct regularly and 
processes are in place to promote and communicate these 
policies.

Confl ict of interest
Directors must keep the Board advised, on an ongoing basis, 
of any interest that could potentially confl ict with those of 
the Company.  The Board has developed procedures to assist 
directors to disclose potential confl icts of interest.

Where the Board believes that a signifi cant confl ict exists for 
a director on a Board matter, the director concerned does not 
receive the relevant Board papers and is not present at the 
meeting whilst the item is considered.  Details of director related 
entity transactions with the Company and consolidated entity 
are set out in Note 24 to the fi nancial statements.

Code of conduct
The consolidated entity has advised each director, manager and 
employee that they must comply with the Code of Conduct and 
Employee Manual.  The Code of Conduct and Employee Manual 
covers the following:

aligning the behaviour of the Board and management • 
with the code of conduct by maintaining appropriate core 
Company values and objectives;

fulfi lling responsibilities to shareholders by delivering • 
shareholder value;

fulfi lling responsibilities to clients, customers and • 
consumers by maintaining high standards of service, and 
safety; 

employment practices such as occupational health and • 
safety, employment opportunity, community activities, 
sponsorships and donations;

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT
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responsibilities to the individual, such as privacy, use • 
of privileged or confi dential information, and confl ict 
resolution;

compliance with legislation;• 

confl icts of interest;• 

corporate opportunities such as preventing directors • 
and key executives from taking advantage of property, 
information or position for personal gain;

confi dentiality of corporate information;• 

fair dealing;• 

protection and proper use of the Company’s assets; and• 

reporting of unethical behaviour and breaches of the Code • 
of Conduct

Trading in general Company securities by directors 
and employees
The key elements of the Trading Policy are:

Identifi cation of those restricted from trading – directors • 
and all staff are prohibited from trading in Company  
securities:

except during the four week period commencing  -
the fi rst business day after the announcement of 
half-yearly and annual results to the Australian Stock 
Exchange (‘ASX’), or the Annual General Meeting.

except where during periods outside the above  -
mentioned trading window, where approval has been 
granted by the Board or the Board’s delegate. 

whilst in possession of price sensitive information not  -
yet released to the market

raising the awareness of legal prohibitions including • 
transactions with colleagues and external advisers;

requiring details to be provided of intended trading in the • 
Company’s shares;

requiring details to be provided of the subsequent • 
confi rmation of the trade; and

identifi cation of processes for unusual circumstances • 
where discretions may be exercised in cases such as 
fi nancial hardship.

The policy also details the insider trading provisions of the 
Corporations Act 2001 and is summarised on the Company’s 
website.

Communication with shareholders
The Board provides shareholders with information using a 
Continuous Disclosure Policy which includes identifying matters 
that may have a material effect on the price of the Company’s 
securities, notifying them to the ASX, posting them on the 
Company’s website and issuing media releases.

In summary, the Continuous Disclosure Policy operates as follows:

the chief executive offi cer and the company secretary • 
are responsible for interpreting the company’s policy and 
where necessary informing the Board.  The company 
secretary is responsible for all communications with the 
ASX. Such matters are advised to the ASX on the day they 
are discovered, and all staff must follow the Continuous 
Disclosure process, which involves monitoring all areas of 
the group’s internal and external environment;

the annual report is distributed to all shareholders (unless • 
a shareholder has specifi cally requested not to receive 
the document), including relevant information about the 
operations of the Company during the year, changes in 
the state of affairs and details of future developments;

the half-yearly report contains summarised fi nancial • 
information and a review of operations of the 
consolidated entity during the period. The half-year 
reviewed fi nancial report is lodged with the Australian 
Securities and Investments commission and the ASX, and 
sent to any shareholder who requests it; 

proposed major changes in the consolidated entity which • 
may impact on share ownership rights are submitted to a 
vote of shareholders;

all announcements made to the market, and related • 
information (including information provided to analysts or 
the media during briefi ngs), are placed on the Company’s 
website after they are released to the ASX;

the full texts of notices of meetings and associated • 
explanatory material are placed on the Company’s website; 
and

the external auditor attends the annual general meetings • 
to answer questions concerning the conduct of the audit, 
the preparation and content of the auditor’s report, 
accounting policies adopted by the Company and the 
independence of the auditor in relation to the conduct of 
the audit.

All of the above information is made available on the Company’s 
website within one day of public release.  

The Board encourages full participation of shareholders at the 
Annual General Meeting, to ensure a high level of accountability 
and identifi cation with the consolidated entity’s strategy and 
goals.  Important issues are presented to the shareholders as 
single resolutions.   

The shareholders are requested to vote on the appointment and 
aggregate remuneration of directors, the granting of options 
and shares to directors, the Remuneration report and changes 
to the Constitution.  Copies of the Constitution are available to 
any shareholder who requests it.
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The directors present their report together with the fi nancial report of HFA Holdings Limited (the Company) and of the consolidated 
entity, being the Company and its controlled entities for the fi nancial year ended 30 June 2007 and the auditor’s report thereon.

DIRECTORS
The directors of the Company at any time during or since the end of the fi nancial year are:

Mr Brett Howard

Mr Paul Jensen, appointed 23 February 2007

Mr Michael King

Mr Paul Manka, resigned 18 June 2007

Mr John Morrison

Mr Paul Willis, resigned 5 March 2007

Mr Spencer Young

CORPORATE INFORMATION
HFA Holdings Limited is a company limited by shares that is incorporated in Australia.  It has a wholly owned subsidiary HFA Asset 
Management, which acts as the Responsible Entity and Manager of its schemes and other products. 

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES 
The principal activities of the consolidated entity during the course of the fi nancial year were the provision of absolute 
return fund products to retail, wholesale and institutional investors throughout Australia, as a specialist funds 
management company.  

CONSOLIDATED RESULTS

$M
2007 

Actual
2007 Prospectus 

Forecast
2006 

Actual

Revenue 74.6 49.0 35.4

Investment management costs1 (30.3) (20.3) (17.0)

Net operating income 44.3 28.7 18.4

Operating expenses, net of other income (15.1) (8.7) (7.9)

Operating EBIT 29.2 20.0 10.5

Net interest income2 (0.1) (0.1) -

Equity settled transaction expense3 (0.1) - (19.0)

Profi t/(loss) before tax 29.0 19.9 (7.6)

Income tax expense (8.7) (6.0) (3.2)

Profi t/(loss) after tax 20.3 13.9 (10.8)

EPS (cents) 10.05 6.86 (5.75)

1 the fee arrangement with Lighthouse changed on 1 May 2006
2 includes interest income and expense only
3 relates to issue of share to employees and related on-costs
 
The company recorded a consolidated profi t after tax of $20.3 million for the fi nancial year ended 30 June 2007. This result was a 
signifi cant increase to the forecast result contained in the prospectus dated 31 March 2006. Shareholders funds increased from $8.4 
million at 30 June 2006 to $20.6 million at 30 June 2007. 

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
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DIVIDENDS
Dividends paid or declared by the Company to members since the end of the previous fi nancial year were:

Declared and paid during the 2007 fi nancial year

Cents per share
Total amount 

$
Franked / 
unfranked

Date of payment

Special 2007 ordinary 1.5 3,027,167 Franked 31 October 2006

Interim 2007 ordinary 2.6 5,247,086 Franked 31 March 2007

Total amount 8,274,253

Franked dividends declared as paid during the year were franked at the rate of 30 per cent.

DIRECTORS’ REPORT

Declared after end of year
The directors have at the date of this report declared a fi nal 
2007 dividend of 4.0 cents per share which will be fully franked 
and payable in September 2007. 

The fi nancial effect of this dividend has not been brought to 
account in the fi nancial statements for the year ended 30 June 
2007 and will be recognized in subsequent fi nancial reports.

REVIEW OF OPERATIONS
HFA operates a specialist funds management business 
providing absolute return fund products to retail, wholesale 
and institutional investors throughout Australia.  Absolute 
return funds aim to achieve positive returns across all market 
conditions and represent one of the fastest growing niche 
markets of the Australian wealth management industry.

Products 
HFA manages products which fall into two main categories: 
open-ended products and structured products.

Open-ended products
These products are open-ended managed investment schemes 
which generally accept subscriptions and redemptions on a 
monthly basis.  AUM in these products as at 30 June 2007 was 
$884 million, a 29% increase over the fi nancial year, which 
refl ects their continued strong distribution by HFA via the 
fi nancial planning industry.

FUM within HFA’s open-ended products is sourced primarily 
from retail investors, either directly or via investor directed 
portfolio services, with only 8% of these funds held by 
institutional investors.

Structured products
In recent years, HFA has established a number of products 
which have been specifi cally structured as closed-ended 
products to meet their stated investment objectives.  These 
products utilise leverage as part of their objective to provide 
potential for enhanced returns.

In the 2007 fi nancial year, HFA’s FUM and AUM increased 
signifi cantly through the following structured products:

the launch of the HFA Partners Fund which raised $53 • 
million in December 2006, equating to an additional $129 
million of AUM; and

the launch of the HFA Octane Global Fund Asia, HFA • 
Octane Global Fund Europe and HFA Octane Global Fund 
US which combined raised a total $352 million in June 
2007, equating to an additional $521 million of AUM.

HFA was particularly pleased with the successful HFA Octane 
Global Fund Series, with these funds raising $66 million more 
than the HFA Octane Asia Fund, which was launched at the 
same time the previous fi nancial year. 

Assets under Management 
As at 30 June 2007, HFA had total funds under management 
(“FUM”) of $2.29 billion and total assets under management 
(“AUM”) of $3.88 billion.  This represents an increase of 47% 
in FUM and 48% in AUM since the end of the previous fi nancial 
year.  This growth has resulted from strong returns of the HFA 
investment products, overall positive net infl ows into existing 
HFA products, and the launch of a number of structured 
products through-out the fi nancial year.

Net income from operating activities
The growth in AUM and strong product performance has 
resulted in an increase in net income from operating activities to 
$44.3 million for the fi nancial year ending 30 June 2007. This 
represents an increase of 141% over the 2006 fi nancial year.

Operating expenses
Operating expenses increased to $15.1 million for the fi nancial 
year ending 30 June 2007. This represents an increase of 92% 
($7.2 million) when compared to the fi nancial year ending 30 
June 2006.

This increase is largely due to the signifi cant growth in the 
business and increased administration costs associated. 
Signifi cant areas of increased expenditure were employee 
expenses, professional fees, amortisation of intangibles, and 
administration expenses. 

SIGNIFICANT CHANGES IN THE STATE OF 
AFFAIRS
In the opinion of the directors there were no signifi cant changes 
in the state of affairs of the Group that occurred during the 
fi nancial year under review.
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EVENTS SUBSEQUENT TO REPORTING DATE
The directors have at the date of this report declared a fi nal 2007 dividend of 4.0 cents per share which will be fully franked and 
payable in September 2007.

On 24 July 2007 the company announced that it entered into a Merger Implementation Agreement (MIA) with United States-based 
fund of absolute return funds manager Lighthouse Partners. In accordance with the MIA, the company and Lighthouse will work 
towards executing a Share Purchase Agreement (SPA) to effect the merger of the two businesses. The MIA states that the Company 
intends to acquire Lighthouse for US$348.5 million in cash and 134.67 million HFA shares.

Lighthouse is a global alternative investment management company. HFA and Lighthouse have developed a strong relationship 
since 1998 and currently operate under an exclusive Investment Advisor and Access Agreement in Australia and New Zealand. On 
completion of the merger, HFA and Lighthouse would become a truly international provider of absolute return-based investment 
products with total Assets Under Management of approximately US$8 billion.

LIKELY DEVELOPMENTS
The consolidated entity will continue to pursue its policies of increasing profi tability, and growing assets under management during 
the next fi nancial year. This will involve further investments in product innovations and expansion of the distribution capabilities, 
which offer sound opportunities for future development.  Further information about likely developments in the operations of the 
consolidated entity and the expected results of those operations in future fi nancial years has not been included in this report because 
disclosure of the information would be likely to result in unreasonable prejudice to the consolidated entity.

INFORMATION OF DIRECTORS
Information on the directors of the Company that served at any time during the fi nancial year including directors serving at the date 
of this report are as follows:

Mr Brett Howard 
B.Com (UNSW)

Chairman and Independent Non-Executive Director, 59 years

Brett has worked in fi nance, property and funds management for many years.  Brett was the founder of the Howard 
Mortgage Trust which is now the Challenger Howard Mortgage Trust (Australia’s largest traditional mortgage trust). He 
has been a director of Challenger Funds Management Limited and was the managing director of the listed company, 
Howard Financial Holdings Limited, prior to it merging with Challenger in 1998.  Brett has had extensive experience in 
the establishment, marketing and management of unit trusts with authorised investments in property, shares and interest 
bearing securities. He has been a director of Goldlink Income Plus Limited since 2006 and he has also served on the Boards of 
companies engaged in commercial fi nance and structured project fi nance. 

Mr Spencer M Young 
B.Eng. MBA

Non-Executive Director, 46 years

Spencer is the founder of HFA. He has over 15 years of alternate asset class investment experience and close relationships 
with a network of international hedge funds and domestic research and rating agencies. 

Spencer holds a B.Eng (U.Qld) and an MBA from Harvard.  He has held several senior investment positions including Executive 
Director of Rothschild Australia Private Equity and Lend Lease Corporation’s senior executive in the USA for venture capital and 
private equity investments. An experienced Company Director, he is currently a non executive director of Tremblant Capital, a 
New York based $4 billion hedge fund. He is a former director of HFA Accelerator Plus Limited (July 2004 to February 2007) 
and MFS Limited (February 2004 to November 2005) and the MFS Living and Leisure Group (February 2004 to March 2005).

Appointed Chief Executive Offi cer and Executive Director 15 May 2003
Resigned Executive Director 13 April 2007
Appointed Non-Executive Director 13 April 2007
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Mr Michael King
LLB

Non-Executive Director, 43 years

Michael was appointed to the HFA Board upon listing in May 2006. Michael is the Chief Executive Offi cer of ASX-listed MFS 
Limited, which operates a diversifi ed range of tourism, investment, fi nance and funds management activities. Michael has 
extensive experience in funds management and property sectors. Michael is also a director of the following listed entities – 
MFS Diversifi ed Group (since 2003), MFS Living & Leisure Group (since 2003), and Village Life Limited (June 2006 to August 
2006). Additionally, Michael was appointed of the board of Tourism Hotels & Leisure Limited in August 2006.

Member of Nomination Committee, Member of Remuneration Committee, Member of Audit and Risk Committee

Appointed 5 August 2002

Mr John A Morrison 
BE(Hons) MBA MAICD

Independent Non-Executive Director, 44 years

John is currently an Executive Director of Grant Samuel, a leading independent investment bank in Australia.  He has 
broad experience in the fi nance industry and since 1990 has been involved in providing advice to corporations in mergers, 
acquisitions, valuations, restructurings, fi nancing and capital management.  Prior to this he worked in engineering and 
construction in Australia and the UK.  John has been a non-executive director of HFA Accelerator Plus Limited since July 2004 
and a non-executive Director of Minara Resources Limited since December 1999. 

Chairman of Audit and Risk Committee, Member of Remuneration Committee

Appointed 15 March 2005

Mr Paul J Manka 
MBA CFP F FIN

Non-Executive Director, 46 years

Paul holds a Masters in Business Administration (MGSM), is a Certifi ed Financial Planner and a Fellow of the Financial Services 
Institute of Australasia.  Paul has held a range of positions within the fi nancial services sector, including various Board and 
management positions, and continues to provide fi nancial advice to a broad range of clients.  Paul has been a director of MFS 
Limited since February 2004, HFA Accelerator Plus Limited since September 2005.  He is a former director of the MFS Living 
and Leisure Group (February 2004 to March 2005) and MFS Diversifi ed Group (December 2005 to November 2006). Paul is 
Chairman of the HFA Asset Management Audit and Risk Committee and a member of the HFA Accelerator Plus Limited Audit 
and Risk Committee.

Member of Audit and Risk Committee

Appointed 1 September 2005, resigned 18 June 2007
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Mr Paul Willis 
B.Com A FIN

Independent Non-Executive Director,  40 years

Paul has a Bachelor of Commerce Degree (University of Tasmania) and is an Associate of the Financial Services Institute of 
Australasia.  He has spent the past 15 years in the funds management industry. Paul was a founding partner, chief operating 
offi cer and executive director of JF Capital Partners Limited between 1999 and 2005, during which time assets under 
management grew from $30 million to $3 billion. Paul has been a non-executive director of Moly Mines Limited since January 
2006 and is Chairman of its audit and risk committee. He was appointed a non-executive director of MFS Living and Leisure 
Group in May 2006.

Member of Nomination Committee, Member of Audit and Risk Committee

Appointed 15 March 2006, resigned 5 March 2007

Mr Paul Jensen
B.Com MAICD

Executive Director, Chief Executive Offi cer, 46 years

Paul is the Managing Director and Chief Executive Offi cer of HFA Asset Management Limited and HFA Holdings Limited.   He 
has extensive global fi nancial services experience having previously held senior executive positions with leading companies 
in Australia, New Zealand and the United Kingdom including Travelex, Lend Lease Corporate Services (MLC) and Lloyds TSB 
Bank.  His experience encompasses superannuation, banking and investment markets.  Paul is also currently a director of 
WAM Capital Limited.

Paul holds a Bachelor of Commerce and Administration; Accounting and Commercial Law major from the University of 
Victoria, Wellington, New Zealand among other qualifi cations and memberships.

Appointed Chief Executive Offi cer and Executive Director 23 February 2007

COMPANY SECRETARIES
Ms Amber Stoney BCom (Hons) CA was appointed to the position of company secretary 15 March 2005. Amber previously worked 
for KPMG specialising in providing assurance and advisory services to the funds management industry, particularly in relation to 
accounting, operational and regulatory compliance issues. Amber holds the position of Head of Operations.

Mr Robert White BBus was appointed as joint company secretary on 15 February 2007. Robert holds the position of Head of 
Corporate. Robert is responsible for corporate and special projects and select day to day operations within HFA including the foreign 
exchange hedging, product development and implementation. Robert has over 12 years experience in the fi nancial services industry 
working within both the institutional and retail market segments in the UK, Europe and Australia.



HFA Annual Report 2007 Experience The Edge 19

 

DIRECTORS’ MEETINGS
The number of directors’ meetings (including meetings of committees of directors) and number of meetings attended by each of the 
directors of the Company during the fi nancial year are:

Board 
Meetings

Remuneration 
Committee Meetings

Audit and Risk 
Committee Meetings

Nomination Committee 
Meetings

Director A B A B A B A B

B Howard 16 17 6 6 4 4

M King 12 12 6 6 4 4

P Manka 11 12 5 5

J Morrison 12 13 6 6 5 5

P Willis 9 10 4 4 4 4

S Young 9 10

P Jensen 7 7

A – Number of meetings attended
B – Number of meetings held during the time the director held offi ce and was eligible to attend during the year

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS
The relevant interest of each director in the ordinary share capital of the company at the date of this report is as follows:

Director Number of Ordinary Shares

Mr Brett Howard 250,000

Mr Paul Jensen -

Mr Michael King1 39,538,086

Mr John Morrison 19,719

Mr Spencer Young2 25,366,951

1 These shares are held indirectly via MFS Alternative Asset Limited
2 These shares are held indirectly by Spencer Young Family Trust

SHARE OPTIONS
No options have been granted during or since the end of the fi nancial period.  As at the date of this report there are no unissued 
shares of the Company under option.

INDEMNIFICATION AND INSURANCE OF DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS
Indemnifi cation
The Company has agreed to indemnify current directors and former directors against all liabilities to another person (other than 
the Company or a related body corporate) that may arise from their position as directors of the company and its controlled entities, 
except where the liability arises out of conduct involving a lack of good faith. The agreement stipulates that the Company will meet 
the full amount of any such liabilities, including costs and expenses.

The Company has also agreed to indemnify the current directors of its controlled entities for all liabilities to another person (other 
than the company or a related body corporate) that may arise from their position, except where the liability arises out of conduct 
involving a lack of good faith. The agreement stipulates that the Company will meet the full amount of any such liabilities, including 
costs and expenses.

Insurance premiums
The directors have not included details of the amount of the premium paid in respect of the directors’ and offi cers’ liability and 
legal expenses’ insurance contracts, as such disclosure is prohibited under the terms of the contract.  The insurance premiums paid 
relate to costs and expenses incurred by the relevant offi cers in defending proceedings, whether civil or criminal and whatever their 
outcome; and other liabilities that may arise from their position, with the exception of conduct involving a wilful breach of duty or 
improper use of information or position to gain a personal advantage.

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
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REMUNERATION REPORT
The Directors of the Company present the Remuneration Report 
prepared in accordance with section 300A of the Corporations 
Act for the Company and consolidated entity for the year ended 
30 June 2007.

The Company’s remuneration strategy is designed to attract, 
retain and motivate appropriately qualifi ed and experienced 
Directors and senior executives.  Details of the Company’s 
remuneration strategy for the 2007 fi nancial year are set out in 
this remuneration report.  The Remuneration Report forms part 
of the Directors’ Report.

Principles of compensation - audited
Remuneration of directors and executives is referred to as 
compensation as defi ned in AASB 124.

Compensation levels for key management personnel and 
secretaries of the Company and relevant key management 
personnel of the consolidated entity are competitively set to 
attract and retain appropriately qualifi ed and experienced 
directors and executives. 

The compensation structures explained below are designed to 
attract suitably qualifi ed candidates, reward the achievement 
of strategic objectives, and achieve the broader outcome of 
creation of value for shareholders. The compensation structures 
take into account:

the capability and experience of the key management • 
personnel;

the key management personnel’s ability to control the • 
relevant performance;

the consolidated entity’s performance; and• 

the amount of incentives within each key management • 
person’s compensation.

Compensation packages include a mix of fi xed compensation 
plus performance linked compensation (which includes a short 
term incentive (STI) and a long term incentive (LTI). 

Furthermore, during the year, the company engaged KPMG 
to provide advice on the STI and LTI structure for the senior 
management team and employees of the company. The overall 
objective of this remuneration strategy is to support the overall 
business strategy of HFA by attracting, retaining and rewarding 
quality executive employees and staff, with a view to aligning 
employee and shareholder goals. In particular, remuneration 
will be appropriately mixed to provide long term remuneration 
incentives to relevant executives. It is anticipated that the 
incentive plan will be implemented for the 2008 fi nancial year.

Fixed compensation - audited
Fixed compensation consists of base compensation (which is 
calculated on a total cost basis and includes any FBT charges 
related to employee benefi ts including motor vehicles), as 
well as employer contributions to superannuation funds. 
Compensation levels are reviewed annually by the remuneration 
committee through a process that considers individual and 
overall performance of the consolidated entity. A senior 
executive’s compensation is also reviewed on promotion.

Short Term Incentives - audited
Short term incentives (STI) are paid to senior executives 
and staff in the form of an annual cash bonus.  The aim of 
such an arrangement is to recognise the contributions and 
achievements of individuals when business targets are achieved 
or exceeded.  The KPI’s will generally include measures relating 
to the consolidated entity and the individual, and include 
fi nancial, people, client service, strategy and risk measures as 
appropriate. The measures will be chosen as they directly align 
the individual’s reward to the KPIs of the consolidated entity and 
to its strategy and performance.

Other key management personnel may receive a discretionary 
bonus depending on their assessed performance during the 
previous year. 

The remuneration committee recommends the cash incentive to 
be paid to the individuals for approval by the Board. 

The Board intends to introduce a formal STI scheme for the 
2008 fi nancial year. The amount of cash incentive will be based 
on a percentage of fi xed remuneration determined by the Board 
with reference to the individual’s role and responsibilities.

All cash incentives paid under the STI scheme will be subject to 
annual performance hurdles including both fi nancial and  non-
fi nancial KPI’s of the nature outlined above. Payments will be on 
a sliding scale according to performance against the KPI’s.

Long term incentives - audited
The Company established employee share plans to assist in 
the attraction, retention and motivation of employees and key 
management personnel. An employee offer was made at the time 
of listing.  It comprised the issue of new shares by the company 
for nil consideration. The grant date of the shares under the 
employee offer was 1 May 2006.  Shares issued under the plans 
are restricted from being sold or transferred, until the earlier of 
three years from the admission date and the date on which the 
employee is no longer employed by the consolidated entity.

The Board intends to implement a Long Term Incentive (LTI) 
scheme for the 2008 fi nancial year. The basis of the LTI scheme 
is the provision of options or performance rights, as determined 
by Board, to eligible employees which will vest after three years if 
certain performance hurdles have been met. For the fi rst two years 
of scheme operation a transitional vesting period of 50% after 
two years and 50% after three years will apply. The value of any 
award made under the LTI scheme will be based on a percentage 
of fi xed remuneration determined by the Board with reference to 
the individual’s roles and responsibilities. The performance hurdle 
will be a relative Total Shareholder Return measure.

The performance-linked component of compensation to key 
management personnel for the 2007 fi nancial year comprises 
approximately 46 per cent in short term incentive payments. 
The once-off grant of shares under the employee share plan 
meant that for the 2006 fi nancial year the performance-linked 
component of compensation comprised approximately 85 per 
cent of total payments to key management personnel.  Excluding 
the employee share plan, the performance-linked component of 
compensation comprised approximately 10 per cent.

DIRECTORS’ REPORT



HFA Annual Report 2007 Experience The Edge 21

 

REMUNERATION REPORT (continued)
During the year the Board resolved to issue the Chief Executive 
Offi cer with 100,000 shares in the Company on 1 January 2008, 
subject to remaining in employment at that date. An expense 
in relation to these shares has been recognised in the 2007 
fi nancial year based on period of service.

Other benefi ts - audited 
The Company does not currently pay any other benefi ts, either 
cash or non-cash to directors or key management personnel of 
the Company.

Service contracts - audited
The company has entered into employment contracts with 
each executive director and key management personnel.  The 
employment contract outlines the components of compensation 
paid but does not prescribe how compensation levels are 
modifi ed year to year.  Compensation levels are reviewed each 
year to take into account cost-of-living changes, any change in 
the scope of the role performed and any changes required to 
meet the principles of the compensation policy.

Apart from the service agreements outlined directly below, no 
executive director or key management personnel is entitled, 
pursuant to an agreement with the consolidated entity, to any 
payment on the person ceasing to hold the offi ce other than 
a standard four week notice period which may be reduced 
by agreement, other than their statutory entitlements of 
accrued annual and long service leave, together with any 
superannuation benefi ts.

Paul Jensen, Chief Executive Offi cer, entered into a service 
agreement with the consolidated entity on 16 November 
2006.  The agreement specifi es the duties and obligations to 
be fulfi lled by the CEO and provides that the Board and CEO 
will early in each fi nancial year, consult and agree objectives 
for achievement during that year. The service agreement is 
for a non-fi xed term. The Company may terminate the service 
agreement at any time by providing six months notice.

Paul Jensen may terminate the service agreement by the 
provision of twelve months’ written notice. The CEO has no 
entitlement to termination payment in the event of removal for 
an act of fraud, negligence or wilful misconduct.

Rodney Hughes, Chief Financial Offi cer, entered into a service 
agreement with the consolidated entity on 14 January 2007.  
The agreement specifi es the duties and obligations to be 
fulfi lled by the CFO and provides that the Board and CFO will 
early in each fi nancial year, consult and agree objectives for 
achievement during that year. The service agreement is for 
a non-fi xed term. The Company may terminate the service 
agreement at any time by providing six months notice.

Rodney Hughes may terminate the service agreement by 
the provision of six months’ written notice. The CFO has no 
entitlement to termination payment in the event of removal for 
an act of fraud, negligence or wilful misconduct.

Refer to note 24 of the fi nancial statements for details on 
the fi nancial impact in future periods resulting from the 
consolidated entity’s commitments arising from non-cancellable 
contracts for services with key management personnel.

Non-executive directors - audited
The aggregate compensation for all non-executive directors, 
last voted upon by shareholders, is not to exceed $400,000 
per annum and is set based on advice from external advisors 
with reference to fees paid to other non-executive directors of 
comparable companies. 

Non- executive director’s compensation is $80,000 plus 
superannuation. The Chairman’s compensation is $107,000 
plus superannuation. Non-executive directors do not receive 
any performance related remuneration.  Directors’ fees cover all 
main Board activities and membership of any committee. 

Directors are entitled to be paid all travelling and other expenses 
they incur in attending to the company’s affairs, including 
general meetings.

Non-executive directors are not entitled to any benefi ts or 
payments on retirement from offi ce. 

Consequences of performance on shareholders 
wealth
In considering the Group’s performance and benefi ts for 
shareholders wealth, the remuneration committee have regard 
to the following indices in respect of the current fi nancial year 
and the previous fi nancial year.

2007 2006

Net profi t attributable to equity 
holders of the parent 20,278,782 (10,812,551)

Dividends paid 8,274,253 -

Change in share price $0.86 $0.591 

1 Movement from IPO date to 30 June 2006

Net profi t is considered as one of the fi nancial performance 
targets in setting the STI. Dividends and changes in share 
price are included in the TSR calculation which will be the 
performance criteria assessed for the LTI.

The overall level of key management personnel’s compensation 
takes into account the performance of the Group over a number 
of years. Over the last year the Group’s profi t from ordinary 
activity after income tax has grown at a rate per annum of 287 
per cent. Average key management personnel compensation 
for 2007 has fallen by approximately 59 per cent per annum 
compared to the previous fi nancial year.

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
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DIRECTORS’ AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS’ REMUNERATION (COMPANY AND CONSOLIDATED)
(AUDITED):
Details of the nature and amount of each major element of remuneration of each director of the Company and each of the fi ve named 
Company executives who receive the highest remuneration are:

Short-term
Post-

employment
Share-based 

payments

Total
       $

S300A 
(1)(e)(vi) 

Proportion of 
remuneration 
performance 

basedYear
Salary & fees

$

STI cash 
bonus

$
Total

$

Super-
annuation 

benefi ts
$

Shares
$

Directors
Non-executive

Mr Brett Howard 
(Chairman)

2007 107,000 - 107,000 9,630 - 116,630 -

2006 31,640 - 31,640 2,848 - 34,488 -

Mr Spencer Young1

(appointed as non-
executive director 13 
April 2007)

2007 47,831 - 47,831 2,713 - 50,544 -

Mr Michael King2
2007 - - - - - - -

2006 - - - - - - -

Mr Paul Manka
(resigned 18 June 
2007)

2007 80,000 - 80,000 7,200 - 87,200 -

2006 18,958 - 18,958 1,706 - 20,664 -

Mr John Morrison
2007 80,000 - 80,000 7,200 - 87,200 -

2006 32,083 - 32,083 2,888 - 34,971 -

Mr Paul Willis
(resigned 28 February 
2007)

2007 53,333 - 53,333 4,800 - 58,133 -

2006 23,656 - 23,656 2,129 - 25,785

Executive

Mr Spencer Young
(retired as executive 
director 13 April  
2007)

2007 343,558 - 343,558 9,973 - 353,531 -

2006 407,854 - 407,854 12,139 - 419,993 -

Mr Paul Jensen
(Chief Executive 
Offi cer)
(appointed 23 
February 2007)

2007 238,061 300,000 538,061 7,400 125,000 670,461 63%

Total 
compensation: 
directors 
(consolidated)

2007 949,783 300,000 1,249,783 48,916 125,000 1,423,699 30%

2006 514,191 - 514,191 21,710 - 535,901 -

Total 
compensation: 
directors 
(company)

2007 368,164 - 368,164 31,543 - 399,707 -

2006 81,961 - 81,961 7,377 - 89,338 -

1 Spencer Young became a non-executive director on 13 April and received fees in excess of standard non-executive director fees per agreement
2 Michael King elected not to receive non-executive director fees due to being a nominee of a shareholder

Note: Insurance premiums in relation to directors and offi ceholders have not been allocated to individual directors and do not appear 
in the above

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
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DIRECTORS’ AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS’ REMUNERATION (COMPANY AND CONSOLIDATED)
(AUDITED):

Short-term
Post-

employment
Share-based 

payments

Total
$

S300A 
(1)(e)(vi) 

Proportion of 
remuneration 
performance 

basedYear
Salary & fees

$

STI cash 
bonus

$
Total

$

Super-
annuation 

benefi ts
$

Shares
$

Executives

Mr Rodney Hughes
(Chief Financial 
Offi cer)
(Appointed 14 
January 2007)

2007 113,080 125,000 238,080 6,343 - 244,423 51%

Mr Jonathan Pain
(Chief Investment 
Strategist)

2007 297,500 275,000 572,500 12,686 - 585,186 47%

2006 244,583 107,143 351,726 12,139 1,450,000 1,813,865 86%

Mr Oscar Martinis
(Head of Distribution)

2007 250,000 400,000 650,000 12,686 - 662,686 60%

2006 200,000 - 200,000 12,139 4,550,000 4,762,139 96%

Ms Amber Stoney
(Head of Operations)

2007 106,368 210,000 316,368 8,750 - 325,118 65%

2006 144,998 20,000 164,998 12,139 850,000 1,027,137 85%

Mr Robert White 
(Head of Corporate)

2007 177,499 350,000 527,499 12,193 - 539,692 65%

2006 124,999 20,000 144,999 11,360 780,000 936,359 85%

Executives

Mr Peter Coates
(Senior Investment 
Manager)
(Resigned 30 June 
2007)

2007 240,235 200,000 440,235 12,686 - 452,921 44%

2006 187,699 20,000 207,699 12,139 975,000 1,194,838 83%

Total 
compensation: 
specifi ed 
executives 
(consolidated)

2007 1,184,682 1,560,000 2,744,682 65,344 - 2,810,026 56%

2006 902,279 167,143 1,069,422 59,916 8,605,000 9,734,338 90%

Total 
compensation: 
specifi ed 
executives 
(company)

2007 - - - - - - -

2006 - - - - - - -

Total 
compensation: 
key management 
personnel 
(consolidated)

2007 2,134,465 1,860,000 3,994,465 114,260 125,000 4,233,725 47%

2006 1,416,470 167,143 1,583,613 81,626 8,605,000 10,270,239 85%

Total 
compensation: 
key management 
personnel 
(company)

2007 368,164 - 368,164 31,543 - 399,707 -

2006 81,961 - 81,961 7,377 - 89,338 -
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT

AUDITOR
KPMG continues in offi ce as auditor in accordance with section 327 of the Corporations Act 2001.

Non Audit Services
During the year KPMG, the company’s auditor, has performed certain other services in addition to their statutory duties.

The Board has considered the non-audit services provided during the year by the auditor and it is satisfi ed that the provision of 
those non-audit services during the year by the auditor is compatible with, and did not compromise, the auditor independence 
requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 for the following reasons:

all non-audit services were subject to the corporate governance procedures adopted by the Company and have been reviewed • 
by the audit and risk committee to ensure they do not impact the integrity and objectivity of the auditor; and

the non-audit services provided do not undermine the general principles relating to auditor independence as set out in APES • 
110 Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants, as they did not involve reviewing or auditing the auditor’s own work, acting 
in a management or decision making capacity for the Company, acting as an advocate for the Company or jointly sharing risks 
and rewards.

Details of the amounts paid or payable to KPMG for audit and non audit services are provided in Note 23 of the fi nancial statements.

LEAD AUDITOR’S INDEPENDENCE DECLARATION UNDER SECTION 307C OF THE 
CORPORATIONS ACT 2001 
The lead auditor’s independence declaration required under section 307C of the Corporations Act 2001 is set out on page 25 and 
forms part of the directors’ report for the fi nancial period ended 30 June 2007.

Signed in accordance with a resolution of directors:

 

  

Brett Howard     Paul Jensen
Chairman     Managing Director

Dated at Sydney this 24th day of August 2007
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LEAD AUDITOR’S INDEPENDENCE DECLARATION

Lead auditor’s independence declaration under Section 307c of the Corporations Act 2001
To the directors of HFA Holdings Limited

I declare that, to the best of my knowledge and belief, in relation to the audit for the fi nancial year ended 30 June 2007 there have 
been:

no contraventions of the auditor independence requirements as set out in the Corporations Act 2001 in relation to the audit; • 
and

no contraventions of any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit.• 

KPMG

Robert S Jones
Partner

Brisbane
24th August 2007
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Note

Consolidated The Company

2007
$

2006
$

2007
$

2006
$

Revenue 6 74,643,927 35,473,061 - -

Investment management costs (30,303,344) (17,039,545) - -

Net income from operating activities 44,340,583 18,433,516 - -

Other income 6 3,937 5,234 - -

Expenses 6 (15,093,037) (7,857,323) (535,946) (30,724)

Equity settled transactions 6 (125,000) (18,959,984) - -

Results from operating activities 29,126,483 (8,378,557) (535,946) (30,724)

Financial income 6 655,039 939,500 18,276,059 18,115

Financial expenses 6 (834,480) (195,943) (688,122) (78,160)

Net fi nancing income/(costs) (179,441) 743,557 17,587,937 (60,045)

Profi t/(loss) before tax 28,947,042 (7,635,000) 17,051,991 (90,769)

Income tax (expense)/benefi t 7 (8,668,260) (3,177,551) 643,554 27,230

Net profi t/(loss) 20,278,782 (10,812,551) 17,695,545 (63,539)

Earnings per share for profi t/(loss) attributable 
to the ordinary equity holders of the company:

Basic earnings per share (cents per share) 8 10.05 (5.75)

Diluted earnings per share (cents per share) 8 10.05 (5.75)

The income statements are to be read in conjunction with the notes to the fi nancial statements set out on pages 30 to 55.

INCOME STATEMENTS
For the year ended 30 June 2007



HFA Annual Report 2007 Experience The Edge 27

 

Note

Consolidated Company

2007
$

2006
$

2007
$

2006
$

Net change in fair value of available-for-sale fi nancial 
assets 19 129,669 70,754 129,669 3,186

Income and expense recognised directly in 
equity 19 129,669 70,754 129,669 3,186

Profi t/(loss) for the year 20,278,782 (10,812,551) 17,695,545 (63,539)

Total recognised income and expense for the year 20,408,451    (10,741,797) 17,825,214 (60,353)

Attributable to:
Members of HFA Holdings Limited 20,408,451  (10,741,797) 17,825,214 (60,353)

Total recognised income and expense for the year 20,408,451 (10,741,797) 17,825,214 (60,353)

Other movements in equity arising from transactions with owners as owners are set out in note 19.

The statements of recognised income and expense are to be read in conjunction with the notes to the fi nancial statements set out on pages 30 to 55.

STATEMENTS OF RECOGNISED INCOME AND EXPENSE
For the year ended 30 June 2007
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Note

Consolidated Company

2007
$

2006
$

2007
$

2006
$

Assets

Current

Cash and cash equivalents 9 17,942,040 8,093,328 5,477,724 326,600

Trade and other receivables 10 30,761,973 7,606,049 9,003,044 30,614

Other current assets 11 2,931,624 - 2,788,240 -

Total current assets 51,635,637 15,699,377 17,269,008 357,214

Non-current

Trade and other receivables 10 756,475 751,739 - -

Investments 12 724,583 525,179 11,170,812 8,571,408

Property, plant and equipment 13 631,693 242,722 - -

Deferred tax assets 7 - - 277,416 461,336

Intangible assets 14 11,704,493 9,420,137 - -

Total non-current assets 13,817,244 10,939,777 11,448,228 9,032,744

Total assets 65,452,881 26,639,154 28,717,236 9,389,958

Liabilities

Current

Trade and other payables 15 21,751,809 8,320,563 76,080 1,277,386

Current tax liability 4,517,960 - 4,517,960 -

Interest bearing loans and borrowings 16 9,958,056 2,492,637 9,958,056 2,492,637

Employee benefi ts 17 2,605,096 965,351 - -

Total current liabilities 38,832,921 11,778,551 14,552,096 3,770,023

Non-current

Interest bearing loans and borrowings 16 3,968,812 4,974,567 3,968,812 4,974,567

Employee benefi ts 17 75,840 64,767 - -

Deferred tax liabilities 7 1,940,235 1,445,393 - -

Total non-current liabilities 5,984,887 6,484,727 3,968,812 4,974,567

Total liabilities 44,817,808 18,263,278 18,520,908 8,744,590

Net assets 20,635,073 8,375,876 10,196,328 645,368

Equity

Issued capital 19 705,721 705,721 705,721 705,721

Reserves 19 132,855 3,186 132,855 3,186

Retained earnings 19 19,796,497 7,666,969 9,357,752 (63,539)

Total equity 20,635,073 8,375,876 10,196,328 645,368

The balance sheets are to be read in conjunction with the notes to the fi nancial statements set out on pages 30 to 55.

BALANCE SHEETS
As at 30 June 2007



HFA Annual Report 2007 Experience The Edge 29

 

STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
For the year ended 30 June 2007

Note

Consolidated Company

2007
$

2006
$

2007
$

2006
$

Cash fl ows from operating activities

Fees received 58,956,333 36,655,285 27,500 -

Payments to suppliers and employees (40,376,601) (25,527,219) (5,969,066) (522)

Cash generated from/(used in) operations 18,579,732 11,128,066 (5,941,566) (522)

Interest received 628,639 200,342 93,558 18,115

Dividends and distributions received 26,400 95,654 18,182,502 -

Income taxes paid (3,711,031) - (3,711,031) -

Interest paid (834,480) (80,383) (688,122) (86,077)

Net cash from/(used in) operating activities 20 14,689,260 11,343,679 7,935,341 (68,484)

Cash fl ows from investing activities

Proceeds from sale of investments - 3,799,639 - -

Acquisition of property, plant and equipment (564,963) (153,183) - -

Acquisition of investments (253,188) (1,343,470) (2,653,188) (281,756)

Acquisition of intangibles (2,078,035) (4,536,553) - -

Net cash from/(used in) investing activities (2,896,186) (2,233,567) (2,653,188) (281,756)

Cash fl ows from fi nancing activities

Proceeds from borrowings 7,459,664 8,467,204 7,459,664 7,467,204

Repayments of borrowings (1,000,000) (10,430,289) (1,000,000) (9,430,289)

Loans to controlled entities - - - (800,000)

Loans from controlled entities - - 1,813,333 3,439,925

Dividends paid (8,274,253) - (8,274,253) -

Borrowing costs (129,773) (1,056) (129,773) -

Net cash from/(used in) fi nancing activities (1,944,362) (1,964,141) (131,029) 676,840

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 9,848,712 7,145,971 5,151,124 326,600

Cash and cash equivalents at 1 July 8,093,328 947,357 326,600 -

Cash and cash equivalents at 30 June 9 17,942,040 8,093,328 5,477,724 326,600

The statements of cash fl ows are to be read in conjunction with the notes to the fi nancial statements set out on pages  30 to 55.
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1. REPORTING ENTITY
The HFA Holdings Limited Group (“Group”) consists of HFA 
Holdings Limited (“HFA”) and two wholly owned subsidiaries, 
HFA Asset Management Limited (“HFAAM”), HFA Admin 
Pty Ltd (“HFA Admin”) and A.C.N. 122 776 550 Pty Ltd 
(“A.C.N 122 776 550”). HFA is a company limited by shares, 
incorporated in Australia whose shares are publicly listed on the 
Australian Stock Exchange. HFAAM is the responsible entity for 
the HFA investment schemes and is the investment manager 
of HFA Accelerator Plus Limited. HFA Admin is a service entity 
to HFAAM and provides administrative services including staff, 
premises and other resources to HFAAM and HFA. A.C.N 122 
776 550 is a dormant entity.

The registered offi ce of HFA is Level 5, 151 Macquarie Street, 
Sydney NSW 2000. 

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION
(a) Statement of compliance
The fi nancial report is a general purpose fi nancial report which 
has been prepared in accordance with Australian Accounting 
Standards (AASBs) (including Australian interpretations) adopted 
by the Australian Accounting Standards Board (AASB) and 
the Corporations Act 2001. The consolidated fi nancial report 
of the group also complies with the IFRSs and interpretations 
adopted by the International Accounting Standards Board. The 
Company’s fi nancial report does not comply with IFRSs as the 
Company has elected to apply the relief provided to parent 
entities by AASB 132 Financial Instruments: Presentation and 
Disclosure in respect of certain disclosure requirements.

The fi nancial report of HFA Holdings Limited for the year ended 
30 June 2007 was authorised for issue in accordance with a 
resolution of the directors on 24 August 2007.

(b) Basis of measurement
The consolidated fi nancial statements have been prepared on 
the historical cost basis except for available-for-sale fi nancial 
assets that are measured at fair value.

(c) Functional and presentation currency
Items included in the fi nancial statements of each of the 
Group’s entities are measured using the currency of the primary 
economic environment in which the entity operates (“the 
functional currency”). The Group’s functional and presentation 
currency is Australian dollars (A$).

(d) Use of estimates and judgments
Management has reviewed the consolidated entity’s critical 
accounting policies and estimates and the application of these 
policies and estimates. The estimates and judgements that have 
a signifi cant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying 
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next fi nancial year 
are discussed below.

Impairment of goodwill 
The consolidated entity assesses whether goodwill is impaired at 
least annually in accordance with the accounting policy in note 
14. These calculations involve an estimation of the recoverable 
amount of the cash-generating units to which the goodwill is 
allocated.

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
The accounting policies set out below have been applied 
consistently to all periods presented in these consolidated 
fi nancial statements, and have been applied consistently by 
Group entities. The comparative statement of changes in equity 
has been represented as a statement of recognised income and 
expense to conform with the current year’s presentation.

The entity has elected to early adopt the following accounting 
standards and amendments: 

AASB 101 Presentation of Financial Statements (October • 
2006)

ED 151 Australian Additions to, and Deletions from, IFRSs• 

In the prior fi nancial year the Group adopted the following: 

AASB 132 Financial Instruments: Recognition and • 
Measurements in accordance with the transitional rules of 
AASB 1: First-time Adoption of Australian Equivalents to 
International Financial Reporting Standards. 

AASB 119 Employee Benefi ts (December 2004)• 

AASB 2004-3 Amendments to Australian Accounting • 
Standards (December 2004) amending AASB 1 First 
time Adoption of Australian Equivalents to International 
Financial Reporting Standards (July 2004), AASB 101 
Presentation of Financial Statements and AASB 124 
Related Party Disclosures

AASB 2005-1 Amendments to Australian Accounting • 
Standards (May 2005) amending AASB 139 Financial 
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement

AASB 2005-3 Amendments to Australian Accounting • 
Standards (June 2005) amending AASB 119 Employee 
Benefi ts (either July or December 2004)

AASB 2005-4 Amendments to Australian Accounting • 
Standards (June 2005) amending AASB 139 Financial 
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement, AASB 132 
Financial Instruments: Disclosure and Presentation, and 
AASB 1 First-time Adoption of Australian Equivalents to 
International Financial Reporting Standards (July 2004) 

AASB 2005-5 Amendments to Australian Accounting • 
Standards (June 2005) amending AASB 1 First time 
Adoption of Australian Equivalents to International 
Financial Reporting Standards (July 2004), and AASB 139 
Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement

AASB 2005-6 Amendments to Australian Accounting • 
Standards (June 2005) amending AASB 3 Business 
Combinations

UIG 4 Determining whether an Arrangement contains a • 
Lease

UIG 8 Scope of AASB 2• 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 30 June 2007

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(a) Basis of consolidation
The consolidated fi nancial statements are those of the 
consolidated entity, comprising HFA Holdings Limited (the 
parent company) and all entities that HFA Holdings Limited 
controlled from time to time during the period and at the 
reporting date.

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by HFA. Control exists when 
HFA has the power, directly or indirectly, to govern the fi nancial 
and operating policies of an entity so as to obtain benefi ts from 
its activities. In assessing control, potential voting rights that 
presently are exercisable or convertible are taken into account. 
The fi nancial statements of subsidiaries are included in the 
consolidated fi nancial statements from the date that control 
commences until the date that control ceases. 

In the Company’s fi nancial statements, investments in 
subsidiaries are carried at cost. 

The fi nancial statements of subsidiaries are prepared for the 
same reporting period as the parent company, using consistent 
accounting policies.

All intercompany balances and any unrealised gains and losses 
or income and expenses arising from intra-group transactions, 
are eliminated in preparing the consolidated fi nancial 
statements.

Unrealised losses are eliminated in the same way as unrealised 
gains, but only to the extent that there is no evidence of 
impairment. 

(b) Foreign currency translation
Transactions in foreign currencies are converted to local currency 
at the rate of exchange prevailing at the date of the transaction. 
Foreign currency monetary items that are outstanding at the 
reporting date (other than monetary items arising under foreign 
currency contracts where the exchange rate for the monetary 
item is fi xed in the contract) are translated using the spot rate at 
the end of the fi nancial period.

All differences in the consolidated fi nancial report are taken to 
the income statement.

(c) Financial instruments
Financial instruments comprise investments in equity and 
debt securities, trade and other receivables, cash and cash 
equivalents, loans and borrowings, and trade and other 
payables.

Financial instruments are recognised initially at fair value plus, 
for instruments not at fair value through profi t or loss, any 
directly attributable transaction costs, except as described 
below. Subsequent to initial recognition fi nancial instruments 
are measured as described below.

A fi nancial instrument is recognised if the Group becomes a 
party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. Financial 
assets are derecognised if the Group’s contractual rights to 
the cash fl ows from the fi nancial assets expire or if the Group 
transfers the fi nancial asset to another party without retaining 

control or substantially all risks and rewards of the asset. 
Regular purchases and sales of fi nancial assets are accounted 
for at trade date, i.e. the date that the Group commits itself to 
purchase or sell the asset. Financial liabilities are derecognised 
if the Group’s obligations specifi ed in the contract expire or are 
discharged or cancelled.

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash balances and call 
deposits. These assets are stated at nominal values.

For the purposes of the Cash Flow Statement, cash and cash 
equivalents consist of cash and cash equivalents as defi ned 
above. 

Trade and other receivables
Trade and other receivables are stated at their amortised cost 
less impairment losses (see accounting policy (h)).

Available-for-sale fi nancial assets
The Group’s investments in equity securities are classifi ed 
as available-for-sale fi nancial assets. Subsequent to initial 
recognition, they are measured at fair value and changes 
therein, other than impairment losses (see note 3(h)), are 
recognised as a separate component of equity. When an 
investment is derecognised, the cumulative gain or loss in equity 
is transferred to profi t or loss.

Trade and other payables
Trade and other payable are stated at their amortised cost. 
Trade payables are non-interest bearing and are normally settled 
on 30-day terms.

Interest-bearing loans and borrowings
Interest-bearing loans and borrowings are recognised initially 
at fair value less attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to 
initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and borrowings are 
stated at amortised cost with any difference between cost and 
redemption value being recognised in the income statement 
over the period the borrowings on an effective interest basis.

(d) Plant and equipment
Items of plant and equipment are measured at cost less 
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. 

Cost includes expenditures that are directly attributable to the 
acquisition of the asset. 

Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line basis over the 
estimated useful life of the asset as follows:

Furniture and Fixtures 7 years

Leasehold Improvements Lease term

Computer Software & Equipment 3 - 5 years

The residual value, the useful life and the depreciation method 
applied to an asset are reassessed at least annually.

The carrying value of plant and equipment are reviewed for 
impairment (see accounting policy (h)) when events or changes 
in circumstances indicate the carrying value may not be 
recoverable.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(e) Leased assets
Leases in terms of which the consolidated entity assumes 
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are 
classifi ed as fi nance leases. Payments under operating leases are 
recognised in the income statement on a straight-line basis over 
the term of the lease. Lease incentives received are recognised 
in the income statement as an integral part of the total lease 
expense and spread over the lease term.

(f) Subsequent expenditure
Subsequent expenditure is capitalised only when it increases 
the future economic benefi ts embodied in the specifi c asset to 
which it relates. All other expenditure, including expenditure on 
internally generated goodwill and brands, is recognised in profi t 
or loss when incurred. 

(g) Intangible assets

Goodwill
Goodwill on acquisition is initially measured at cost being 
the excess of the cost of the business combination over the 
acquirer’s interest in the net fair value of the identifi able assets, 
liabilities and contingent liabilities.

Following initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less 
any accumulated impairment losses.

As at the acquisition date, any goodwill is allocated to each 
of the cash-generating units expected to benefi t from the 
combination’s synergies.

Goodwill is not amortised but reviewed for impairment annually 
or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances 
indicate that the carrying value may be impaired.

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable amount 
of the cash-generating unit to which the goodwill relates.

Where the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit is 
less than the carrying amount, an impairment loss is recognised.

Where goodwill forms part of a cash-generating unit and part 
of the operation within that unit is disposed of, the goodwill 
associated with the operation disposed of is included in the 
carrying amount of the operation when determining the gain or 
loss on disposal of the operation.

Goodwill disposed of in this circumstance is measured on the 
basis of the relative values of the operation disposed of and the 
portion of the cash-generating unit retained.

Other Intangible assets
Other intangible assets consist of management rights.  Where 
acquired separately, the management rights are capitalised at 
cost.

Amortisation is charged on assets with fi nite lives. The expense 
is recognised in the income statement and included in the 
‘expenses’ line item.

Intangible assets created within the business are not capitalised 
and expenditure is charged against profi ts in the year in which 
the expenditure is incurred.

Useful lives are examined on an annual basis and adjustments, 
where applicable, are made on a prospective basis.

A summary of the policies applied to the Group’s intangible 
assets is as follows:

Management Rights 

Useful lives Finite

Method use Straight Line – 5 to 10 years

Internally generated/Acquired Acquired

Impairment test/Recoverable 
amount testing

Amortisation method 
reviewed at each fi nancial 
year-end. Reviewed annually 
for indicator of impairment

(h) Impairment
(i) Financial assets
A fi nancial asset is considered to be impaired if objective 
evidence indicates that one or more events have had a negative 
effect on the estimated future cash fl ows of that asset.

An impairment loss in respect of a fi nancial asset measured 
at amortised cost is calculated as the difference between its 
carrying amount, and the present value of the estimated future 
cash fl ows discounted at the original effective interest rate. An 
impairment loss in respect of an available-for-sale fi nancial asset 
is calculated by reference to its current fair value.

Individually signifi cant fi nancial assets are tested for impairment 
on an individual basis. The remaining fi nancial assets are 
assessed collectively in groups that share similar credit risk 
characteristics.

All impairment losses are recognised in profi t or loss. Any 
cumulative loss in respect of an available-for-sale fi nancial asset 
recognised previously in equity is transferred profi t or loss.

An impairment loss is reversed if the reversal can be related 
objectively to an event occurring after the impairment loss was 
recognised. For fi nancial assets measured at amortised cost 
and available-for-sale fi nancial assets that are debt securities, 
the reversal is recognised in profi t or loss. For available for 
sale fi nancial assets that are equity securities, the reversal is 
recognised directly in equity. 

(ii) Non-fi nancial assets
The carrying amounts of the consolidated entity’s non-fi nancial 
assets, other than deferred tax assets (see accounting policy (p)), 
are reviewed at each balance sheet date to determine whether 
there is any indication of impairment. If any such indication 
exists, the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated (see 
accounting policy (h)(i)). For goodwill the recoverable amount is 
estimated at each balance sheet date.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 30 June 2007

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
An impairment loss is recognised whenever the carrying amount 
of an asset or its cash-generating unit exceeds its recoverable 
amount. A cash-generating unit is the smallest identifi able asset 
group that generates cash fl ows that are largely independent 
from other assets and groups. Impairment losses are recognised 
in profi t or loss, unless an asset has previously been revalued, in 
which case the impairment loss is recognised as a reversal to the 
extent of that previous revaluation with any excess recognised 
through profi t or loss. Impairment losses recognised in respect 
of cash-generating units are allocated fi rst to reduce the 
carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the units and then 
to reduce the carrying amount of the other assets in the unit 
(group of units) on a pro-rata basis.

The recoverable amount of an asset or cash-generating unit is 
the greater of its value in use and its fair value less costs to sell. 
In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash fl ows are 
discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate 
that refl ects current market assessments of the time value of 
money and the risks specifi c to the asset.

An impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not reversed. In 
respect of other assets, impairment losses recognised in prior 
periods are assessed at each reporting date for any indications 
that the loss has decreased or no longer exists. An impairment 
loss is reversed if there has been a change in the estimates 
used to determine the recoverable amount that would have 
been determined, net of depreciation and amortisation, if no 
impairment loss had been recognised. 

(i) Provisions
Provisions are recognised in the balance sheet when the 
consolidated entity has a present obligation (legal or 
constructive) as a result of a past event, it is probable that an 
outfl ow of resources embodying economic benefi ts will be 
required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be 
made of the amount of the obligation.

Where the consolidated entity expects some or all of a provision 
to be reimbursed, for example under an insurance contract, the 
reimbursement is recognised as a separate asset but only when 
the reimbursement is virtually certain. The expense relating to 
any provision is presented in the income statement net of any 
reimbursement.

If the effect of the time value of money is material, provisions 
are determined by discounting the expected future cash fl ows 
at a pre-tax rate that refl ects current market assessments of the 
time value of money and, where appropriate, the risks specifi c 
to the liability.

Where discounting is used, the increase in the provision due to 
the passage of time is recognised as a fi nance cost.

A provision for dividends is not recognised as a liability 
unless the dividends are declared, determined or publicly 
recommended on or before the reporting date.

(j) Employee Benefi ts 
Employee commitments and contingencies are disclosed net of 
the amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation 
authority.

Provision is made for employee benefi ts accumulated as a result 
of employees rendering services up to the reporting date, in 
accordance with local statutory requirements. These benefi ts 
include wages and salaries, annual leave, long service leave, 
bonuses and share based payments.

Wages and salaries, annual leave and long service leave
Liabilities arising in respect of wages and salaries, annual leave 
and any other employee benefi ts expected to be settled within 
12 months of the reporting date are measured at their nominal 
amounts based on remuneration rates which are expected 
to be paid when the liability is settled, including related on-
costs. All other employee benefi t liabilities are measured at 
the present value of the estimated future cash outfl ow to be 
made in respect of services provided by employees up to the 
reporting date. In determining the present value of future cash 
outfl ows, the market yield as at the reporting date on national 
government bonds, which have terms to maturity approximating 
the terms of the related liability, are used.

Employee benefi t expenses and revenues arising in respect of 
the following categories:

wages and salaries, non-monetary benefi ts, annual leave, • 
long service leave, sick leave and other leave benefi ts; and

other types of employee benefi ts• 

are recognised against profi ts on a net basis in their respective 
categories.

Bonuses
A liability for employee benefi ts in the form of bonus plans is 
recognised in accrued liabilities when it is probable that the 
liability will be settled and there are formal terms in place to 
determine the amount of the benefi t, or the amount of the 
benefi t has been determined before the time of completion of 
the annual report. Liabilities for bonus plans are expected to 
be settled within 12 months and are measured at the amounts 
expected to be paid when they are settled.

Share-based payments
The Group provides benefi ts to employees (including investment 
strategy committee members) of the Group in the form of 
share-based payment transactions, whereby employees render 
services in exchange for shares or rights over shares (“equity-
settled transactions”).

Share-based payments include the shares granted concurrently 
to employees under the HFA Employee Share Plans.

The cost of these shares is measured by reference to the fair 
value at the date granted.

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised, together 
with a corresponding increase in equity, over the period in 
which the performance conditions are fulfi lled, ending on the 
date on which the relevant employees become fully entitled to 
the award (‘vesting date’).

The cumulative expense recognised for equity-settled 
transactions at each reporting date until vesting date refl ects (i) 
the extent to which the vesting period has expired and (ii) the 
number of awards that, in the opinion of the directors of the 
Group, will ultimately vest. This opinion is formed based on the 
best available information at balance date.



34 HFA Annual Report 2007 Experience The Edge

 

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(k) Issued capital and reserves

Issued capital
Issued and paid up capital is recognised at the fair value of the 
consideration received by HFA. Any transaction costs arising on 
the issue of ordinary shares are recognised directly in equity as a 
reduction of the share proceeds received.

Available-for-sale fi nancial assets reserve
The available-for-sale fi nancial assets reserve is used to record 
the changes in fair value, net of related taxes of available-for-sale 
fi nancial assets held throughout the year.

Dividends
Dividends are recognised as a liability in the period in which they 
are declared.

(l) Revenue recognition
Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the 
economic benefi ts will fl ow to the entity and the revenue can be 
reliably measured. The following specifi c recognition criteria must 
also be met before revenue is recognised. Where amounts do not 
meet these recognition criteria, they are deferred and recognised 
in the period in which the recognition criteria are met.

Management fees and performance fees
Periodic management fees are received for management 
services provided by HFA Asset Management Limited on various 
investment products. These fees are recognised as revenues as 
the management services are provided.

Periodic performance fees are received by HFA Asset 
Management Limited on various investment products when the 
performance of the product exceeds a previous high-water mark. 
These fees are recognised as revenues when it is established that 
performance of the investment product has exceeded the high-
water mark.

Sale of assets
Revenue from sales of assets is recognised at the time title 
is transferred or delivery has occurred, the price is fi xed and 
determinable, and collectability is probable.

Interest
Interest income from interest bearing assets is brought to 
account using an effective interest rate method.

Dividends and Distributions
Dividend and distribution revenue is recognised when the Group 
controls the right to receive the dividend or distribution payment.

(m) Investment Management Costs
Investment management costs consist of fees for investment 
management services from investment advisors, and trail 
commissions paid to fi nancial advisors. These costs are 
recognised on an accrual basis.

(n) Leases
Leases are classifi ed at their inception as either operating or fi nance 
leases based on the economic substance of the agreement so as to 
refl ect the risks and benefi ts incidental to ownership.

Finance leases, which transfer to the Group substantially all the 
risks and benefi ts incidental to ownership of the leased item, are 
capitalised at the inception of the lease at the fair value of the 
leased property or, if lower, at the present value of the minimum 
lease payments.

Lease payments are apportioned between the fi nance charges 
and reduction of the lease liability so as to achieve a constant 
rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability. Finance 
charges are charged directly against income.

Capitalised leased assets are depreciated over the shorter of 
the estimated useful life of the asset or the lease term. Leases 
where the lessor retains substantially all the risks and benefi ts of 
ownership of the asset are classifi ed as operating leases. Operating 
lease payments are recognised as an expense in the income 
statement on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

The cost of improvements to or on leasehold property is 
capitalised and depreciated over the shorter of the estimated 
useful life or the lease term.

(o) Financial income and expenses
Financial income comprises interest income on funds invested, 
dividend income, and gains on the disposal of available-for-sale 
fi nancial assets. Interest income is recognised as it accrues, using 
the effective interest method. Dividend income is recognised on 
the date that the Group’s right to receive payment is established, 
which in the case of quoted securities is the ex-dividend date.

Financial expenses comprise interest expense on borrowings, 
unwinding of the discount on provisions, changes in the fair 
value of fi nancial assets at fair value through profi t or loss and 
impairment losses recognised on fi nancial assets. All borrowing 
costs are recognised in profi t or loss using the effective interest 
method.

(p) Income tax
Income tax on the profi t or loss for the year comprises current 
and deferred tax. Income tax is recognised in the income 
statement except to the extent that it relates to items recognised 
directly in equity, in which case it is recognised in equity.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income 
for the year, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at 
balance sheet date, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect 
of previous years.

Deferred tax is provided using the balance sheet liability method, 
providing for temporary differences between the carrying 
amounts of assets and liabilities for fi nancial reporting and the 
amounts used for taxation purposes. The amount of deferred 
tax provided is based on the expected manner of realisation or 
settlement of the carrying amount of assets and liabilities, using 
tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet 
date.

A deferred tax asset is recognised only to the extent that it is 
probable that future taxable profi ts will be available against 
which the asset can be utilised. Deferred tax assets are reduced 
to the extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax 
benefi t will be realised.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(q) Tax consolidation
The Company and its wholly-owned Australian resident entities 
formed a tax-consolidated group with effect from 1 May 2006 
and are therefore taxed as a single entity from that date. The 
head entity within the tax-consolidated group is HFA Holdings 
Limited. 

Current tax expense/income, deferred tax liabilities and deferred 
tax assets arising from temporary differences of the members 
of the tax-consolidated group are recognised in the separate 
fi nancial statements of the members of the tax-consolidated 
group using the ‘separate taxpayer within group’ approach by 
reference to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the 
separate fi nancial statements of each entity and the tax values 
applying under tax consolidation.

Any current tax liabilities (or assets) and deferred tax assets 
arising from unused tax losses of the subsidiaries is assumed 
by the head entity in the tax-consolidated group and are 
recognised as amounts payable (receivable) to (from) other 
entities in the tax-consolidated group in conjunction with the 
tax funding arrangements in place. 

The Company recognises deferred tax assets arising from 
unused tax losses of the tax-consolidated group to the extent 
that it is probable the future taxable profi ts of the tax-
consolidated group will be available against which the asset can 
be utilised.

Any subsequent period adjustments to deferred tax assets 
arising from unused tax losses as a result of revised assessments 
of the probability of recoverability is recognised by the head 
entity only.

(r) Goods and services tax
Revenue, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount 
of goods and services tax (GST) except:

where the GST incurred on a purchase of goods and • 
services is not recoverable from the taxation authority, in 
which case the GST is recognised as part of the cost of 
acquisition of the asset or as part of the expense item as 
applicable; and

receivables and payables are stated with the amount of • 
GST included.

The net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the 
taxation authority is included as part of receivables or payables 
in the Balance Sheets.

Cash fl ows are included in the Cash Flow Statements on a 
gross basis and the GST components of cash fl ows arising from 
investing and fi nancing activities, which are recoverable from, 
or payable to, the taxation authority, are classifi ed as operating 
cash fl ows.

(s) Earnings per share (EPS)
The Group presents basic and diluted earnings per share (EPS) 
data for its ordinary shares. Basic EPS is calculated as net profi t 
attributable to members, adjusted to exclude costs of servicing 
equity (other than dividends) and preference share dividends, 
divided by the weighted average number of ordinary shares, 
adjusted for any bonus element.

Diluted earnings per share adjusts the fi gures used in the 
determination of basic earnings per share to take into account 
the after income tax effect of interest and other fi nancing 
costs associated with dilutive potential ordinary shares and the 
weighted average number of shares assumed to have been 
issued for no consideration in relation to dilutive potential 
ordinary shares.

(t) Segment reporting
A segment is a distinguishable component of the Group that 
is engaged either in providing products or services (business 
segment), or in providing products or services within a particular 
economic environment (geographical segment), which is subject 
to risks and rewards that are different from those of other 
segments.

(u) New standards and interpretations not yet adopted
The following standards, amendments to standards and 
interpretations have been identifi ed as those which may impact 
the entity in the period of initial application. They are available 
for early adoption at 30 June 2007, but have not been applied 
in preparing this fi nancial report:

AASB 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures (August 2005) • 
replaces the presentation requirements of fi nancial 
instruments in AASB 132. AASB 7 is applicable for annual 
reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2007, 
and will require extensive additional disclosures with 
respect to the Group’s fi nancial instruments and share 
capital.

AASB 2005-10 Amendments to Australian Accounting • 
Standards (September 2005) makes consequential 
amendments to AASB 132 Financial Instruments: 
Disclosure and Presentation, AASB 101 Presentation of 
Financial Statements, AASB 114 Segment Reporting, AASB 
117 Leases, AASB 133 Earnings Per Share, AASB 139 
Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement, and 
AASB 1 First-time Adoption of Australian Equivalents to 
International Financial Reporting Standards arising from 
the release of AASB 7. AASB 2005-10 is applicable for 
annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 
2007 and is expected to only impact disclosure contained 
within the consolidated fi nancial report.

AASB 8 Operating Segments replaces the presentation • 
requirements of segment reporting in AASB 114 Segment 
Reporting. AASB 8 is applicable for annual reporting 
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2009 and is not 
expected to have an impact on the fi nancial results of HFA 
and the Group as the standard is only concerned with 
disclosures.

AASB 2007-3 Amendments to Australian Accounting • 
Standards arising from AASB 8 makes amendments to 
AASB 107 Cash Flow Statements, AASB 119 Employee 
Benefi ts, AASB 127 Consolidated and Separate Financial 
Statements, AASB 134 Interim Financial Reporting, and 
AASB 136 Impairment Assets. AASB 2007-3 is applicable 
for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 
January 2009 and must be adopted in conjunction 
with AASB 8 Operating Segments. This standard is only 
expected to impact disclosures contained within the 
fi nancial report.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Interpretation 10 Interim Financial Reporting and • 
Impairment prohibits the reversal of an impairment 
loss recognised in a previous interim period in respect 
of goodwill, an investment in an equity instrument or 
a fi nancial asset carried at cost. Interpretation 10 will 
become mandatory for the Group’s 2008 fi nancial 
statements, and will apply to goodwill, investments 
in equity instruments, and fi nancial assets carried at 
cost prospectively from the date that the Group fi rst 
applied the measurement criteria of AASB 136 and 139 
respectively (ie. 1 July 2004 and 1 July 2005 respectively). 
The adoption of Interpretation 10 is not expected to have 
any impact on the fi nancial report. 

Interpretation 11 AASB 2 Share-based Payment – • 
Group and Treasury Share Transactions addresses the 
classifi cation of a share-based payment transaction (as 
equity or cash settled), in which equity instruments of 
the parent or another group entity are transferred, in the 
fi nancial statements of the entity receiving the services. 
Interpretation 11 will become mandatory for the Group’s 
2008 fi nancial report and is not expected to have any 
impact on the fi nancial report.

AASB 2007-1 Amendments to Australian Accounting • 
Standards arising from AASB Interpretation II amends 
AASB 2 Share-based Payments to insert the transitional 
provisions of IFRS 2, previously contained in AASB 1 First-
time Adoption of Australian Equivalents to International 
Financial Reporting Standards. AASB 2007-1 is applicable 
for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 
March 2007 and is not expected to have any impact on 
the consolidated fi nancial report.

AASB 2007-2 Amendments to Australian Accounting • 
Standards arising from AASB Interpretation 12 makes 
amendments to AASB 1 First-time Adoption of Australian 
Equivalents to International Financial Reporting Standards, 
AASB 117 Leases, AASB 118 Revenue, AASB 127 
Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements and AASB 
139 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement. 
AASB 2007-2 is applicable for annual reporting periods 
beginning on or after 1 January 2008 and must be applied 
at the same time as Interpretation 12 Service Concession 
Arrangements and is not expected to have any impact on 
the consolidated fi nancial report.

4. DETERMINATION OF FAIR VALUES
A number of the group’s accounting policies and disclosures 
require the determination of the fair values, for both fi nancial 
and non-fi nancial assets and liabilities. Fair values have been 
determined for measurement and / or disclosure purposes 
based on the following methods. Where applicable, further 
information about the assumptions made in determining fair 
values is disclosed in the notes specifi c to that asset or liability.

Plant and equipment
The fair value of plant and equipment recognised as a result of 
a business combination is based on market values. The market 
value of plant, equipment, fi xtures and fi ttings is based on the 
quoted market prices for similar items.

Intangible assets
The fair value of intangibles is based on the discounted cash 
fl ows expected to be derived from the use and eventual sale of 
the assets.

Investments in equity securities
The fair value of equity securities is determined by reference to 
their quoted bid price at the reporting date.

Trade and other receivables
The fair value of trade and other receivables is estimated as the 
present value of future cash fl ows, discounted at the market 
rate of interest at the reporting date.

5. SEGMENT REPORTING
Segment information is presented in respect of the consolidated 
entity’s business and geographical segments. The primary 
format, business segments, is based on the consolidated entity’s 
management and internal reporting structure.

Business segments
Primary Segment - Business Information
The primary business activity engaged in by HFA Holdings is 
funds management activities in the absolute return fund fi nance 
sector. There are no distinguishable components in the provision 
of funds management activities by the consolidated entity.

Secondary Segment - Geographic Information
The geographic segmentation of revenue is based on the 
location of the customers, while segmentation of the assets is 
based on the location of the asset. HFA Holdings operates in 
only one principal geographical location, being Australia.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 30 June 2007

6. REVENUE AND EXPENSES
Profi t before income tax expense includes the following specifi c revenues and expenses whose disclosure is relevant in explaining the 
performance of the entity:

Consolidated The Company

2007
$

2006
$

2007
$

2006
$

(a) Revenue

Management fee income 36,015,608 21,024,776 - -

Performance fee income 38,629,819 13,498,846 - -

Entry commissions (1,500) 147,406 - -

Brokerage fee reimbursement - 802,033 - -

Total revenue 74,643,927 35,473,061 - -

(b) Other income

Sundry income 3,937 5,234 - -

Total other income 3,937 5,234 - -

(c) Expenses

Personnel expenses 9,693,095 5,266,821 - -

Professional fees 1,319,307 180,850 258,701 18,900

Depreciation and amortisation 1,010,514 561,880 - -

Occupancy expenses             304,819 197,159 - -

Marketing and promotion costs 438,882 244,015 - -

Travel costs 496,238 364,813 - -

Other expenses 1,830,182 1,041,785 277,245 11,824

Total other expenses 15,093,037 7,857,323 535,946 30,724

(d) Equity settled transactions

Equity settled transactions 125,000 18,203,352 - -

On-costs-equity settled transactions - 756,632 - -

Total equity settled transactions 125,000 18,959,984 - -

(e) Financial income

Interest income 628,639 200,342 93,557 18,115

Dividend and distribution income 26,400 95,654 18,182,502 -

Investments:

Net gain on disposal - 643,504 - -

Total Financial income 655,039 939,500 18,276,059 18,115

(e) Financial expenses

Interest expense 834,480 195,943 688,122 78,160

Total fi nancial expenses 834,480 195,943 688,122 78,160
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7. INCOME TAX EXPENSE
Recognised in the income statement

Consolidated The Company

2007
$

2006
$

2007
$

2006
$

Current tax expense

Current year 8,228,990 1,419,389 (771,992) -

8,228,990 1,419,389 (771,992) -

Deferred tax expense

Origination and reversal of temporary differences 439,270 1,758,162 128,438 (27,230)

439,270 1,758,162 128,438 (27,230)

Income tax expense/(benefi t) reported in income 
statement 8,668,260 3,177,551 (643,554) (27,230)

Numerical reconciliation between tax-expense and pre-tax net profi t

Consolidated The Company

2007
$

2006
$

2007
$

2006
$

Accounting profi t before tax 28,947,042 (7,635,000) 17,051,991 (90,769)

Income tax using the domestic corporation tax rate of 
30% (2006: 30%) 8,684,113 (2,290,500) 5,115,597 (27,230)

Increase in income tax expense due to:

Non-deductible expenses - 5,468,051 459,492 -

Decrease in income tax expense due to:

Tax exempt income (15,853) - (6,218,643) -

Income tax expense/(benefi t) on pre-tax net profi t 8,668,260 3,177,551 (643,554) (27,230)

Income tax recognised directly in equity

Consolidated The Company

2007
$

2006
$

2007
$

2006
$

Equity securities available for sale (55,573) (1,365) (55,573) (1,365)

Income tax benefi t reported in equity (55,573) (1,365) (55,573) (1,365)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 30 June 2007

7. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued)
Deferred tax assets and liabilities

Consolidated

Assets Liabilities Net

2007
$

2006
$

2007
$

2006
$

2007
$

2006
$

Intangible assets - - (2,905,515) (2,220,207) (2,905,515) (2,220,207)

Investments - - (56,938) (1,365) (56,938) (1,365)

Other receivables 61,123 - (56,930) 61,123 (56,930)

Trade creditors 156,814 55,308 - - 156,814 55,308

Employee entitlements 804,281 309,035 - - 804,281 309,035

Tax value of loss carry-forwards 
recognised - 468,766 - - - 468,766

Net tax assets/(liabilities) 1,022,218 833,109 (2,962,453) (2,278,502) (1,940,235) (1,445,393)

The Company

Assets Liabilities Net

2007
$

2006
$

2007
$

2006
$

2007
$

2006
$

Investments - - (56,938) (1,365) (56,938) (1,365)

Other receivables - - - (9,185) - (9,185)

Other items 12,044 3,120 - - 12,044 3,120

Tax value of loss carry-forwards 
recognised 322,310 468,766 - - 322,310 468,766

Net tax assets/(liabilities) 334,354 471,886 (56,938) (10,550) 277,416 461,336

8. EARNINGS PER SHARE
The calculation of basic earnings per share and diluted earnings per share at 30 June 2007 was based on the profi t attributable to 
ordinary shareholders of $20,278,782 (2006: loss of $10,812,551) and a weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding 
during the fi nancial year ended 30 June 2007 of 201,811,000 (2006: 188,028,138), calculated as follows:

Note

Consolidated

2007
$

2006
$

Earnings from operations used in calculating 
Basic earnings per share 20,278,782 (10,812,551)

Earnings from operations used in calculating 
Diluted earnings per share 20,278,782 (10,812,551)
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8. EARNINGS PER SHARE (continued)

Note

Consolidated

2007
No. of Shares

2006
No. of Shares

Number of shares issued

Issued ordinary shares at 1 July 19 201,811,000 185,262,498

Effect of shares issued 1 May 2006 -       2,765,640

Weighted average number of ordinary shares used in calculating diluted 
earnings per share 201,811,000 188,028,138

On 15 March 2006, a share split resulted in the conversion of 1 ordinary share to 185,262,498 shares, whilst on 1 May 2006, 
16,548,502 shares were issued under the Employee Share Plan.

There have been no other transactions involving ordinary shares or potential ordinary shares since the reporting date and before the 
completion of these fi nancial statements.

9. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Consolidated The Company

2007
$

2006
$

2007
$

2006
$

Cash at bank 16,708,524 7,090,073 5,477,724 326,600

Call deposits 1,233,516 1,003,255 - -

Total Cash and Cash Equivalents 17,942,040 8,093,328 5,477,724 326,600

Cash at bank earns interest at fl oating rates based on daily bank deposit rates.
The fair value of cash and cash equivalents is $17,942,040 (2006: $8,093,328).

10. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
Consolidated The Company

2007
$

2006
$

2007
$

2006
$

Current

Receivables due from HFAAM managed products 30,298,741 7,211,087 - -

Receivables from controlled entities - - 8,834,648 -

Other receivables and prepayments 463,232 394,962 168,396 30,614

30,761,973 7,606,049 9,003,044 30,614

Non-current

Receivables due from HFAAM managed products 756,475 751,739 - -

756,475 751,739 - -

Fees receivable comprise management fees, performance fees, and recoverable costs from HFA managed products are non-interest 
bearing and generally on 30 day terms, however certain receivables are on deferred terms and have been adjusted to refl ect their 
fair value at year end.

Non-current receivables in relation to recovery of product costs are receivable over three years and have been discounted to their 
present value using a discount rate of 7.5%.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 30 June 2007

11. OTHER CURRENT ASSETS
Consolidated The Company

2007
$

2006
$

2007
$

2006
$

Current

Prepaid Merger Transaction Costs 2,788,240 2,788,240

Other current assets 143,384 - - -

2,931,624 - 2,788,240 -

Prepaid Merger Transaction costs comprise $2,788,240 of legal and advisory fees incurred to date in relation to the proposed merger 
with Lighthouse. These costs are expected to be accounted for as part of the transaction, if the transaction proceeds, and are not 
expected to be recognised in the income statement.

12. INVESTMENTS 

Note

Consolidated The Company

2007
$

2006
$

2007
$

2006
$

Non-current investments

Available-for-sale fi nancial assets 24 724,583 525,179 724,583 525,179

Investments in controlled entities – at cost - - 10,446,229 8,046,229

Total investments 724,583 525,179 11,170,812 8,571,408

The Company increased its investment in HFA Asset Management Ltd, a subsidiary, by $2,400,000 through redeemable preference 
shares issued by the subsidiary.

Available-for-sale fi nancial assets consist of investments in ordinary shares and/or units in a managed investment scheme (refer to 
note 24(d) for transactions with related parties).



42 HFA Annual Report 2007 Experience The Edge

 

13. PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Consolidated The Company

Furniture 
and 

Equipment
$

Computer 
Equipment 

and 
Software

$

Leasehold 
Improvements

$
Total

$

Furniture 
and 

Equipment
$

Computer 
Equipment 

and 
Software

$

Leasehold 
Improvements

$
Total

$

Cost

Balance at 1 July 
2005 32,102 180,324 80,867 293,293 - - - -

Acquisitions 9,319 97,208 46,656 153,183 - - - -

Disposals - - - - - - - -

Balance at 30 June 
2006 41,421 277,532 127,523 446,476 - - - -

Balance at 1 July 
2006 41,421 277,532 127,523 446,476 - - - -

Acquisitions 88,128 111,681 365,154 564,963 - - - -

Disposals - - - - - - - -

Balance at 30 June 
2007 129,549 389,213 492,677 1,011,439 - - - -

Depreciation and 
impairment losses

Balance at 1 July 
2005 (5,942) (115,946) (15,855) (137,743) - - - -

Depreciation charge 
for the year (5,303) (42,393) (18,316) (66,012) - - - -

Balance at 30 June 
2006 (11,245) (158,339) (34,171) (203,755) - - - -

Balance at 1 July 
2006 (11,245) (158,339) (34,171) (203,755) - - - -

Depreciation charge 
for the year (13,161) (73,958) (88,872) (175,991) - - - -

Balance at 30 June 
2007 (24,406) (232,297) (123,043) (379,746) - - - -

Carrying amounts

At 1 July 2005 26,160 64,378 65,012 155,550 - - - -

At 30 June 2006 30,176 119,193 93,353 242,722 - - - -

At 1 July 2006 30,176 119,193 93,353 242,722 - - - -

At 30 June 2007 105,143 156,916 369,634 631,693 - - - -

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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14. INTANGIBLE ASSETS
Consolidated The Company

Goodwill
$

Management 
rights

$
Other

$
Total

$
Goodwill

$

Management 
rights

$
Other

$
Total

$

Cost

Balance at 1 July 
2005 2,019,446 1,477,505 1,600 3,498,551 - - - -

Additions - 6,616,057 - 6,616,057 - - - -

Balance at 30 June 
2006 2,019,446 8,093,562 1,600 10,114,608 - - - -

Balance at 1 July 
2006 2,019,446 8,093,562 1,600 10,114,608 - - - -

Additions - 3,118,880 - 3,118,880 - - - -

Balance at 30 June 
2007 2,019,446 11,212,442 1,600 13,233,488 - - - -

Amortisation and 
impairment losses

Balance at 1 July 
2005 - (197,001) (132) (197,133) - - - -

Amortisation for the 
year - (495,869) - (495,869) - - - -

Impairment charge - - (1,468) (1,468) - - - -

Balance at 30 June 
2006 - (692,870) (1,600) (694,471) - - - -

Balance at 1 July 
2006 - (692,870) (1,600) (694,470) - - - -

Amortisation for the 
year - (834,525) - (834,525) - - - -

Impairment charge - - - - - - - -

Balance at 30 June 
2007 - (1,527,395) (1,600) (1,528,995) - - - -

Carrying amounts

At 1 July 2005 2,019,446 1,280,504 1,468 3,301,417 - - - -

At 30 June 2006 2,019,446 7,400,692 - 9,420,137 - - - -

At 1 July 2006 2,019,446 7,400,692 - 9,420,137 - - - -

At 30 June 2007 2,019,446 9,685,047 - 11,704,493 - - - -

The recoverable amount of goodwill and intangible assets is calculated as the present value of the estimated future cashfl ows, 
discounted using a pre tax discount rate that refl ects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specifi c to 
those assets.

For goodwill, intangible assets with an indefi nite life and intangible assets that are not yet available for use an impairment test is 
carried out annually. Other intangible assets are tested for impairment when an impairment indicator exists (see note 3(h)).

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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14. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)
Impairment testing of indefi nite life goodwill and management rights

Goodwill
Goodwill acquired through business combinations has been allocated to one individual cash generating unit for impairment testing 
as follows:

Funds Management cash generating unit
The recoverable amount of the Funds Management unit is determined based on a value in use calculation.

To calculate this, cash fl ow projections are based on fi nancial budgets approved by senior management covering a fi ve-year period.

The pre-tax discount rate applied to cash fl ow projections is 12% (2006: 10.5%) and cash fl ows beyond the fi ve-year period are 
extrapolated using a Nil% growth rate (2006: Nil%).

15. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES
Consolidated The Company

2007
$

2006
$

2007
$

2006
$

Trade creditors 18,109,487 6,482,222 44,129 273,027

Other creditors and accruals 3,642,322 1,838,341 31,951 9,395

Loans from controlled entities - - - 994,964

Total trade and other payables 21,751,809 8,320,563 76,080 1,277,386

Trade creditors are non-interest bearing and normally settled on 30 day terms.

16. INTEREST BEARING LOANS AND BORROWINGS
Consolidated The Company

2007
$

2006
$

2007
$

2006
$

Current Liabilities

Bank loans – secured 9,958,056 2,492,637 9,958,056 2,492,637

 9,958,056 2,492,637 9,958,056 2,492,637

Non-current

Bank loans – secured 3,968,812 4,974,567 3,968,812 4,974,567

3,968,812 4,974,567 3,968,812 4,974,567

Financing facilities

Bank loans – secured 14,000,000 10,000,000 14,000,000 10,000,000

 14,000,000 10,000,000 14,000,000 10,000,000

Facilities utilised at reporting date

Bank loans – secured 13,926,868 7,467,204 13,926,868 7,467,204

13,926,868 7,467,204 13,926,868 7,467,204

Facilities not utilised at reporting date

Bank loans – secured 73,132 2,532,796 73,132 2,532,796

73,132 2,532,796 73,132 2,532,796
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 30 June 2007

16. INTEREST BEARING LOANS AND BORROWINGS (continued)
Financing arrangements
Bank loans are denominated in Australian dollars. The bank loans amount in current liabilities comprises the portion of the 
consolidated entity’s bank loan payable and the expected amount to be paid within one year ($9,958,056).

The bank loans are secured by registered fi rst mortgages over the assets of HFA Admin Pty Ltd and guarantees from HFA Admin Pty 
Ltd and HFA Asset Management Ltd. There are three separate facilities. Under facility one, the bank loan is payable on or before 30 
June 2012 in equal annual instalments, and is subject to annual review. The loan bears interest at the bank’s bill rate plus 1.25% on 
the total facility of $6,000,000, payable monthly. Under facility two, the bank loan has no fi xed repayment date and is subject to 
annual review. The facility two loan has a line fee at the bank’s bill rate plus 0.50% on the total facility of $4,000,000 and a margin 
fee at the bank’s bill rate plus 0.95% on the balance drawn. Under facility three, the bank loan has no fi xed repayment date and is 
subject to annual review. The facility three loan has a line fee at the bank’s bill rate plus 1.09% on the total facility of $5,000,000.

17. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS
Consolidated The Company

2007
$

2006
$

2007
$

2006
$

Current

Salaries and wages accrued 2,068,968 563,983 - -

Liability for annual leave 536,128 401,368 - -

2,605,096 965,351 - -

Non-current - -

Liability for long service leave 75,840 64,767 - -

75,840 64,767 - -

18. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS
The Board resolved to issue 100,000 shares to the Chief Executive Offi cer. The shares are subject to service conditions and vest on 
1 January 2008. The shares have been treated as share-based payments and expensed through the income statement. At 30 June 
2007 an expense of $125,000 was recognised based on the service period served and a share price of $2.50.

In 2006 the Group established an Employee Share Plan for the granting of shares to employees upon the successful IPO of the 
Group. Shares under the plan vested upon allotment on 1 May 2006.

The following table illustrates the number and value of shares issued under the 2006 plan:

Note

Number of shares issued 
under the plan

No.

Value of shares issued 
under the plan

$

Employee Share Plan 6 16,548,502 18,203,352

All shares have been treated as share-based payments and expensed through the income statement.

The fair value of equity instruments is determined by reference to the value of the shares granted under the employee share plan. 
The shares were not subject to service conditions and vested on allotment date. Allotment date was 1 May 2006.  The share price on 
allotment was $1.10. 
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19. ISSUED CAPITAL AND RESERVES
Consolidated The Company

2007
$

2006
$

2007
$

2006
$

Ordinary shares

Issued and fully paid 705,721 705,721 705,721 705,721

Movement in ordinary shares on issue No. No.

Balance at beginning of fi nancial year 201,811,000 1 201,811,000 1

Share split on 15 March 2006 - 185,262,497 - 185,262,497

Issued on 1 May 2006 under Employee Share Plan - 16,548,502 - 16,548,502

Balance at end of fi nancial year 201,811,000 201,811,000 201,811,000 201,811,000

Ordinary shares have the right to receive dividends as declared and, in the event of winding up HFA, to participate in the proceeds 
from the sale of all surplus assets in proportion to the number of and amounts paid up on shares held. Ordinary shares entitle their 
holder to one vote, either in person or by proxy, at a meeting of HFA. The ordinary shares have no par value. Effective 1 July 1998, 
the Company Law Review Act abolished the concept of authorised capital. Accordingly, HFA does not have authorised capital or par 
value in respect of its issued shares.

Consolidated The Company

2007
$

2006
$

2007
$

2006
$

Retained earnings 19,796,497 7,666,969 9,357,752 (63,539)

Available-for-sale fi nancial assets reserve 132,855 3,186 132,855 3,186

Movements:

(a) Retained earnings

Balance at beginning of the fi nancial year 7,666,969 276,168 (63,539) -

Net profi t/(loss) attributable to members of HFA Holdings 
Limited 20,278,782 (10,812,551) 17,695,545 (63,539)

Dividends to equity holders (8,274,254) - (8,274,254) -

Equity settled transactions 125,000 18,203,352 - -

Balance at end of the fi nancial year 19,796,497 7,666,969 9,357,752 (63,539)

Equity settled transactions relates to the recognition of the future issue of shares to the Chief Executive Offi cer (2007: $125,000) and 
the issue of shares under the HFA Employee Share Plans at IPO (2006: $18,203,252).  This amount is recognised in retained earnings.

Consolidated The Company

2007
$

2006
$

2007
$

2006
$

(b) Available-for-sale fi nancial assets reserve

Balance at beginning of the fi nancial year 3,186 (67,568) 3,186 -

Unrealised gain/(loss) 129,669 70,754 129,669 3,186

Balance at end of the fi nancial year 132,855 3,186 132,855 3,186

Nature and purpose of reserves

Available-for-sale fi nancial reserve
The available-for-sale fi nancial asset reserve includes the cumulative net change in the fair value of available-for-sale investments 
until the investment is derecognised.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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19. ISSUED CAPITAL AND RESERVES (continued)
(c) Dividends
Dividends recognised in the current year by the Company are:

Cents per share Total amount $ Franked / unfranked Date of payment

Special 2007 ordinary 1.5 3,027,167 Franked 31 Oct 2006

Interim 2007 ordinary 2.6 5,247,086 Franked 31 Mar 2007

Total amount 8,274,253

Franked dividends declared as paid during the year were fully franked and franked at the rate of 30%.

After the balance sheet date the following fully franked dividend was declared by the directors. The declaration and subsequent 
payment of the dividend has no income tax consequences. The fi nancial effect of this dividend has not been brought to account in 
the fi nancial statements for the fi nancial year ended 30 June 2007 and will be recognised in subsequent fi nancial reports.

Cents per share Total amount $ Franked / unfranked Date of payment

Final 2007 ordinary 4.0 8,072,440 Franked 28 Sept 2007

Total amount 8,072,440

20. RECONCILIATION OF CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Note

Consolidated The Company

2007
$

2006
$

2007
$

2006
$

Cash fl ows from operating activities

Net profi t after tax 20,278,782 (10,812,551) 17,695,545 (63,539)

Adjustments for:

Depreciation and amortisation expense 6 (c) 1,010,514 561,880 - -

Net gain on disposal 6 (e) - (643,504) - -

Borrowing costs 129,773 1,056 129,773 -

Equity-settled transactions 6 (d) 125,000 18,203,352 - -

Income tax expense/(benefi t) 4,957,229 3,177,551 2,477,108 (27,230)

Operating cash fl ow before changes in working 
capital and provisions 26,501,298 10,487,784 20,302,426 (90,769)

(Increase)/decrease in receivables 10 (23,160,660) (2,254,044) (110,282) (23,753)

(Increase)/decrease in other assets 11 (2,931,624) - (2,788,240) -

(Increase)/decrease to loans to controlled entities - - (9,501,247) -

Increase/(decrease) in payables 12,629,428 2,930,211 32,684 46,038

Increase/(decrease) in provisions and employee 
benefi ts 17 1,650,818 179,728 - -

Net cash fl ow (used in) /from Operating 
Activities 14,689,260 11,343,679 7,935,341 (68,484)
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21. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
Exposure to credit, liquidity and interest rate risk arises in the normal course of the Company’s and consolidated entity’s business.  

Credit risk
The Group trades only with recognised, creditworthy third parties.

It is the Group policy that all customers who wish to trade on credit terms are subject to credit verifi cation procedures.

In addition, receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing basis to minimise the Group’s exposure to bad debts. 

With respect to credit risk arising from the other fi nancial assets of the Group, which comprise cash and cash equivalents, and 
available-for-sale fi nancial assets, the Group’s exposure to credit risk arises from default of the counterparty, with a maximum 
exposure equal to the carrying amount of these instruments.

There are no signifi cant concentrations of credit risk within the Group.

Liquidity risk
The Group’s objective is to maintain a balance between continuity of funding and fl exibility.

72% of the Group’s debt will mature in less than 1 year at 30 June 2007 (2006: 33%).

Interest rate risk
The Group’s exposure to market risk for changes in interest rates relates primarily to the Group’s secured bank loans. All interest 
rates on borrowings are on a variable rate basis.

Effective interest rates 
In respect of income-earning fi nancial assets and interest-bearing fi nancial liabilities, the following table indicates their effective 
interest rates at the balance sheet date and the periods in which they mature or reprice.

Consolidated Note

2007

Effective 
interest 
rate %

Total
$

6 months 
or less

$

6-12 
months

$
1-2 years

$
2-5 years

$

More than 
5 years

$

Cash at bank 9 4.13 16,708,524 16,708,524 - - - -

Call deposits 9 6.15 1,233,516 1,233,516 - - - -

Secured bank loans:

Floating rate loan 16 6.39 (4,968,812) - (1,000,000) (1,000,000) (2,968,812) -

Floating rate loan 16 6.39 (8,958,056) - (8,958,056) - - -

4,015,172 17,942,040 (9,958,056) (1,000,000) (2,968,812) -

Consolidated Note

2006

Effective 
interest 
rate %

Total
$

6 months 
or less

$

6-12 
months

$
1-2 years

$
2-5 years

$

More than 
5 years

$

Cash at bank 9 4.68 7,090,073 7,090,073 - - - -

Call deposits 9 5.86 1,003,255 1,003,255 - - - -

Secured bank loans:

Floating rate loan 16 5.98 (5,974,567) - (1,000,000) (1,000,000) (3,000,000) (974,567)

Floating rate loan 16 6.93 (1,492,637) - (1,492,637) - - -

626,124 8,093,328 (2,492,637) (1,000,000) (3,000,000) (974,567)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 30 June 2007

21. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

The Company Note

2007

Effective 
interest 
rate %

Total
$

6 months 
or less

$

6-12 
months

$
1-2 years

$
2-5 years

$

More than 
5 years

$

Cash and cash 
equivalents 9 3.92 5,477,724 5,477,724 - - - -

Loans from controlled 
entities 10 - 8,834,648 8,834,648 - - - -

Secured bank loans:

Floating rate loan 16 6.39 (4,968,812) - (1,000,000) (1,000,000) (2,968,812) -

Floating rate loan 16 6.39 (8,958,056) - (8,958,056) - - -

385,504 14,312,372 (9,958,056) (1,000,000) (2,968,812) -

The Company Note

2006

Effective 
interest 
rate %

Total
$

6 months 
or less

$

6-12 
months

$
1-2 years

$
2-5 years

$

More than 
5 years

$

Cash and cash 
equivalents 9 4.00 326,600 326,600 - - - -

Loans from controlled 
entities 10 - - - - - - -

Secured bank loans:

Floating rate loan 16 5.98 (5,974,567) - (1,000,000) (1,000,000) (3,000,000) (974,567)

Floating rate loan 16 6.93 (1,492,637) - (1,492,637) - - -

(7,140,604) 326,600 (2,492,637) (1,000,000) (3,000,000) (974,567)

Foreign currency risk
The consolidated entity is exposed to foreign currency risk on revenue earned from managed investment products invested in 
markets denominated in a currency other than AUD. The currency giving rise to this risk is primarily U.S. Dollars. Much of this 
risk is hedged by the managed investment product directly, thereby reducing the foreign currency risk on revenues earned by the 
consolidated entity.

Sensitivity analysis
In managing interest rate risks the consolidated entity aims to reduce the impact of short-term fl uctuations on the consolidated 
entity’s earnings. Over the longer-term, however, permanent changes in interest rates would have an impact on consolidated 
earnings.

At 30 June 2007, it is estimated that a general increase of one percentage point in interest would decrease the consolidated entity’s 
profi t before tax by approximately $140,000 (2006: $818).

Fair values
The carrying value of fi nancial assets and liabilities approximates their fair values.

Estimation of fair values
The following summarises the major methods and assumptions used in estimating the fair values of fi nancial instruments refl ected in 
the above fi nancial instruments table.
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21. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
Securities
Fair value is based on quoted market prices at the balance sheet date without any deduction for transaction costs. 

Trade and other receivables/payables
For receivables/payables with a remaining life of less than one year, the notional amount is deemed to refl ect the fair value. All other 
receivables/payables are discounted to determine the fair value.

Interest-bearing loans and borrowings
Fair value is calculated based on discounted expected future principal and interest cash fl ows.

22. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
Operating lease commitments
The Group has entered into commercial leases on offi ce equipment and premises where it is not in the best interest of the Group to 
purchase these assets.

These leases have an average life of between 1 and 5 years with renewal terms included in the contracts. Renewals are at the option 
of the specifi c entity that holds the lease.

Future minimum rentals payable under non-cancellable operating leases as at 30 June are as follows:

Consolidated The Company

2007
$

2006
$

2007
$

2006
$

Within one year 217,326 253,072 - -

After one year but not more than fi ve years 816,740 1,119,564 - -

More than fi ve years - - - -

1,034,066 1,372,636 - -

23. AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION
Consolidated The Company

2007
$

2006
$

2007
$

2006
$

Audit services

Auditors of the Company

KPMG Australia:

Audit and review of fi nancial reports 65,600 31,900 48,900 18,900

65,600 31,900 48,900 18,900

Services other than statutory audit:

Auditors of the Company

KPMG Australia:

Other assurance services 12,000 15,800 67,040 -

Compliance and advisory 234,000 15,125 7,000 -

Due diligence services 790,000

1,036,000 30,925 74,040 -

The costs identifi ed as due diligence services were incurred in relation to the proposed merger transaction scheduled for completion 
in the 2007/8 fi nancial year. These costs are considered to be one-off costs incurred due to the nature of the transaction.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 30 June 2007

24. RELATED PARTIES
(a) Details of Key Management Personnel
The following were key management personnel of the consolidated entity at any time during the reporting period and unless 
otherwise indicated were key management personnel for the entire period:

(i) Specifi ed directors

Brett Howard Chairman (non-executive, independent) appointed 15 March 2006

Spencer Young Chief Executive Offi cer (executive) resigned executive director and appointed non-executive director 13 April 2007

Michael King Director (non-executive, independent)

John Morrison Director (non-executive, independent)

Paul Manka Director (non-executive) appointed 1 September 2005, resigned 18 June 2007

Paul Willis Director (non-executive, independent) appointed 15 March 2006, resigned 5 March 2007

Phillip Adams Director (non-executive) resigned 1 September 2005

Paul Jensen Director (executive) appointed 23 February 2007

(ii) Specifi ed executives

Rodney Hughes Chief Financial Offi cer, appointed 14 January 2007

Amber Stoney Head of Operations and Company Secretary

Jonathan Pain Chief Investment Strategist

Oscar Martinis Head of Distribution

Robert White Head of Corporate and Company Secretary

Peter Coates Senior Investment Manager resigned 30 June 2007

(b) Remuneration of Key Management Personnel

(i) Remuneration Policy
The Remuneration Committee of the Board of Directors of HFA Holdings Limited is responsible for reviewing and recommending 
compensation arrangements for the directors, the chief executive offi cer and the executive team. The Remuneration Committee 
assesses the appropriateness of the nature and amount of remuneration of such offi cers on a periodic basis by reference to relevant 
employment market conditions with the overall objective of ensuring maximum stakeholder benefi t from the retention of a high 
quality Board and executive team. Such offi cers are given the opportunity to receive their base emolument in a variety of forms 
including cash and fringe benefi ts such as motor vehicles and expense payment plans. It is intended that the manner of payment 
chosen will be optimal for the recipient without creating undue cost for the company.

The remuneration committee has completed a project to develop suitable remuneration structures for the Company’s senior 
executives which will include an element of “at risk” compensation which is linked to performance. A Short Term Incentive (STI) 
scheme and a Long Term Incentive (LTI) scheme will be introduced for the 2008 fi nancial year.

The STI scheme cash incentive will be based on a percentage of fi xed remuneration determined by the Board with reference to 
individual roles and responsibilities. All incentives paid under the STI scheme will be subject to annual performance hurdles. The 
Key Performance Indicators (KPI’s) will generally include measures relating to the consolidated entity and the individual, and include 
fi nancial, people, client service, strategy and risk measures as appropriate. The measures will be chosen as they directly align the 
individual’s reward to the KPIs of the consolidated entity and to its strategy and performance. Payments will be on a sliding scale 
according to performance against KPI’s.

The LTI scheme will be based on the provision of options or performance rights, as determined by Board, to eligible employees which 
will vest after three years if certain performance hurdles have been met. For the fi rst two years of scheme operation a transitional 
vesting period of 50% after two years and 50% after three years will apply. The value of any award made under the LTI scheme will 
be based on a percentage of fi xed remuneration determined by the Board with reference to the individual’s roles and responsibilities. 
The performance hurdle will be a relative Total Shareholder Return measure.

Existing performance linked compensation include short term and long term incentive arrangements and is designed to reward key 
management personnel for meeting or exceeding their fi nancial and personal objectives. The short-term incentive (STI) is an ‘at risk’ 
bonus provided in the form of cash.



52 HFA Annual Report 2007 Experience The Edge

 

24. RELATED PARTIES (continued)
(ii) Remuneration of key management personnel included in ‘personnel expenses’ (see note 6) is as follows:

Consolidated The Company

2007
$

2006
$

2007
$

2006
$

Short-term employee benefi ts 3,994,465 1,583,613 368,164 81,961

Post Employment benefi ts 114,260 81,626 31,543 7,377

Share-based payments 125,000 8,605,000 - -

4,233,725 10,270,239 399,707 89,338

(iii) Individual directors and executives compensation disclosures
Information regarding individual directors and executive’s compensation and some equity instruments disclosures as permitted by the 
Corporations Regulations 2M.3.03 and 2M.6.04 are provided in the remuneration report section of the Directors’ report on pages 
20 to 25.

(c) Shareholdings of Specifi ed Directors and Specifi ed Executives

Shares held in HFA Holdings Limited

2007

Balance 
1 July 2006

Ord

Granted as 
Remuneration

Ord
Share Split

Ord

Net Change 
Other

Ord

Balance 
30 June 2007

Ord

Specifi ed Directors

Brett Howard 250,000 - - - 250,000

Spencer Young1 25,366,951 - - - 25,366,951

Michael King2 78,076,173 - - (39,038,107) 39,038,066

John Morrison 19,719 - - - 19,719

Paul Jensen - - - - -

Specifi ed Executives

Rodney Hughes - - - - -

Amber Stoney 850,491 - - (200,000) 650,491

Jonathan Pain 1,472,321 - - (337,000) 1,135,321

Oscar Martinis 5,801,503 - - (802,412) 4,999,091

Robert White 900,602 - - 85,000 985,602

1 These shares are held indirectly by Spencer Young Family Trust
2 These shares are held indirectly by MFS Alternative Asset Limited
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(c) Shareholdings of Key Management Personnel

Shares held in HFA Holdings Limited

2006

Balance 
1 July 2005

Ord

Granted as 
Remuneration

Ord
Share Split

Ord

Net Change 
Other

Ord

Balance 
30 June 2006

Ord

Specifi ed Directors

Brett Howard - - - 250,000 250,000

Spencer Young1 1 - - 25,366,951 25,366,951

Michael King2 1 - 78,076,173 - 78,076,173

John Morrison - - - 19,719 19,719

Paul Manka2 1 - 78,076,173 681,899 78,758,072

Paul Willis - - - - -

Phillip Adams2 1 - 78,076,173 - 78,076,173

Specifi ed Executives

Amber Stoney - 772,727 - 77,764 850,491

Jonathan Pain - 1,318,182 - 154,139 1,472,321

Oscar Martinis - 4,136,364 - 1,665,139 5,801,503

Peter Coates - 886,364 - 283,636 1,170,000

Robert White - 709,091 - 191,511 900,602

1 These shares were purchased by Spencer Young as trustee for the Spencer Young Family Trust from MFS Limited on 1 May 2006 as  
 part of the arrangements to cancel that entity’s existing call option over HFA shares.
2 The above shareholdings for Michael King, Paul Manka and Phillip Adams represent the 78,076,173 shares held by MFS Limited.

(d) Other key management personnel transactions with the Company or its controlled entities
A number of key management persons of the Company, or their related parties, hold positions in other entities that result in them 
having control or signifi cant infl uence over the fi nancial or operating policies of these entities.

A number of these entities transacted with the Company or its subsidiaries in the reporting period. The terms and conditions of 
the transactions with key management personnel and their related parties were no more favourable than those available, or which 
might reasonably be expected to be available, on similar transactions to non-key management personnel related entities on an arm’s 
length basis.

The aggregate amounts recognised during the year relating to key management personnel and other related parties were as follows:

HFA Accelerator Plus Limited
HFA Accelerator Plus Limited is a listed investment company managed by HFA Asset Management Limited, a wholly owned 
subsidiary of HFA Holdings Limited, pursuant to a management agreement.

John Morrison and Paul Jensen are directors of the Company, HFA Asset Management Limited and HFA Accelerator Plus Limited. 
Jonathan Pain is a director of HFA Asset Management Limited and HFA Accelerator Plus Limited. Spencer Young is a director of the 
Company and former director of HFA Accelerator Plus Limited. Paul Manka is a director of HFA Asset Management Limited and HFA 
Accelerator Plus Limited, and a former director of the Company.

During the fi nancial year the following related party transactions occurred:

(i)  The company purchased an additional 14,631 shares (2006: 547,061) in HFA Accelerator Plus Limited. The fair value of the   
 holding of 561,692 shares as at 30 June 2007 is $724,583.

(ii)  The company received a dividend of $26,400 fully franked (2006: Nil) from its shareholding in HFA Accelerator Plus Limited.

(iii) HFA Asset Management Limited recognised management and performance fees paid or payable of $17,271,833 (2006:   
 $11,100,089) from HFA Accelerator Plus Limited.
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24. RELATED PARTIES (continued)
HFA Asset Management Limited
HFA Asset Management Limited is a wholly owned subsidiary of the company and responsible entity of a number of managed 
investment schemes.

John Morrison, Paul Manka, Paul Jensen, and Jonathan Pain are directors of HFA Asset Management Limited. Spencer Young is a 
former director of HFA Asset Management Limited.

During the fi nancial year HFA Asset Management Limited recognised management and performance fees paid or payable of 
$55,910,327 (2006: $24,130,920) from managed investment schemes for which it acts as the Responsible Entity.

Amounts receivable from schemes for which HFA Asset Management acts as the Responsible Entity and HFA Accelerator Plus Limited 
were $28,294,223 (2006: $7,962,826).

MFS Limited
MFS is a director related entity of Michael King and Paul Manka. 

Michael King is a director of MFS Limited and of the Company. Paul Manka is a director of MFS Limited and HFA Asset Management 
Limited and a former director of the Company.

During the fi nancial year the following related party transactions occurred:

(i)  MFS Limited has provided an indemnity offer to reimburse the Company for up to $5 million of expenses incurred in examining   
 the proposed merger should the merger not be agreed to and approved by 31 December 2007.

(ii) Nil (2006: $11,306) rent paid or payable to MFS Administration Pty Ltd for lease of offi ce space in Brisbane and Melbourne, a   
 director related entity of Michael King and Paul Manka.

(iii) Nil (2006: $60,710) distribution from MFS Diversifi ed Trust during the year, an investment scheme for which MFS Limited acts as  
 Responsible Entity.

(iv) Nil (2006: $34,944) distribution from MFS Optimiser during the year, an investment scheme for which MFS Limited acts as   
 Responsible Entity.

(v) Nil (2006: $230,808) service fees paid to MFS Administration Pty Ltd, a director related entity of Michael King and Paul Manka.

(vi) Nil (2006: $73,114) interest paid or payable on loan from MFS Administration Pty Ltd, a director related entity of Michael King   
 and Paul Manka.

There are no other arrangements that continue to be in place with MFS Limited or any of its controlled entities for the fi nancial year 
ended 30 June 2007.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 30 June 2007



HFA Annual Report 2007 Experience The Edge 55

 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 30 June 2007

25. NON-KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL DISCLOSURES
The consolidated fi nancial statements include the fi nancial statements of HFA Holdings Limited and the subsidiaries listed in the 
following table:

Name
Country of 

incorporation

% Equity interest
Investment ($)

Year ended

2007 2006 2007 2006

HFA Asset Management Ltd Australia 100 100 10,446,228 8,046,228

HFA Admin Pty Ltd Australia 100 100 1 1

ACN 122 776 550 Pty Ltd Australia 100 100 1 1

10,446,230 8,046,230

Subsidiaries
Loans are made by HFA to wholly owned subsidiaries for operational purposes. Loans outstanding between HFA and its controlled 
entities have no fi xed date of repayment and are non-interest bearing. During the fi nancial year ended 30 June 2007, such loans to 
subsidiaries totalled $8,834,648 (2006: $994,964). These loans have been recognised as an additional investment in subsidiaries.

Terms and conditions of transactions with related parties
Sales to and purchases from related parties are made in arms length transactions at both normal market prices and normal 
commercial terms.

Outstanding balances at year-end are unsecured and settlement occurs in cash.

There have been no guarantees provided or received for any related party receivables.

For the year ended 30 June 2007, the Group has not raised a provision for doubtful debts relating to amounts owed by related 
parties as the payment history has been excellent (2006: $nil). This assessment is undertaken each fi nancial year through examining 
the fi nancial position of the related party and the market in which the related party operates in. When assessed as required the 
Group raises such a provision.

26. EVENTS AFTER BALANCE SHEET DATE
The directors have at the date of this report declared a fi nal dividend of 4.0 cents per share which will be fully franked and payable 
in September 2007.

On 24 July 2007 the company has announced that it has entered into a Merger Implementation Agreement (MIA) with United 
States-based fund of absolute return funds manager Lighthouse Partners. In accordance with the MIA, the company and Lighthouse 
will work towards executing a Share Purchase Agreement (SPA) to effect the merger of the two businesses. The MIA states that the 
company intends to acquire Lighthouse for US$348.5 million in cash and 134.67 million HFA shares.

Lighthouse is a global alternative investment management company. HFA and Lighthouse have developed a strong relationship 
since 1998 and currently operate under an exclusive Investment Advisor and Access Agreement in Australia and New Zealand. On 
completion of the merger, HFA and Lighthouse would become a truly international provider of absolute return-based investment 
products with total Assets Under Management of approximately US$8 billion.

There has not arisen in the interval between the end of the fi nancial year and the date of this report, any other item, transaction or 
event of a material nature, likely, in the opinion of the consolidated entity, to effect signifi cantly the operations of the Company or 
consolidated entity, the results of those operations, or the state of affairs of the Company or consolidated entity, in future fi nancial 
years. 



56 HFA Annual Report 2007 Experience The Edge

 

DIRECTORS’ DECLARATION
For the year ended 30 June 2007

In the opinion of the directors of HFA Holdings Limited:

1. (a) the fi nancial statements and notes set out on pages 26 to 55, are in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001 including:

(i) giving a true and fair view of the Company’s and the Group’s fi nancial position as at 30 June 2007 and of their     
 performance for the fi nancial year ended on that date; and

(ii) complying with Australian Accounting Standards (including the Australian Accounting Interpretations) and the    
  Corporations Regulations 2001; and

(b) the fi nancial report of the Group also complies with International Financial Reporting Standards as disclosed in note 2(a).

(c) the remuneration disclosures that are contained on pages 20 to 23 of the Remuneration report in the Director’s report comply  
     with Australian Accounting Standard AASB 124 Related Party Disclosures.

2 there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its debts as and when they become due and 
payable.

3. the directors have been given the declarations required by Section 295A of the Corporations Act 2001 from the chief executive 
offi cer and chief fi nancial offi cer for the fi nancial year ended 30 June 2007. 

Dated at Sydney this 24th day of August 2007

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the directors.

 

   

Brett Howard     Paul Jensen
Chairman     Managing Director
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF 
HFA HOLDINGS LIMITED

Report on the fi nancial report and AASB 124 remuneration disclosures contained in the Directors’ report
We have audited the accompanying fi nancial report of HFA Holdings Limited (the Company), which comprises the balance sheets 
as at 30 June 2007, and the income statements, statements of recognised income and expenses and statements of cash fl ows for 
the year ended on that date, a summary of signifi cant accounting policies and other explanatory notes 1 to 26 and the Directors’ 
declaration set out on pages 26 to 55 of the Group comprising the company and the entities it controlled at the year’s end or from 
time to time during the fi nancial year.

As permitted by the Corporations Regulations 2001, the Company has disclosed information about the remuneration of directors 
and executives (“remuneration disclosures”), required by Australian Accounting Standard AASB 124 Related Party Disclosures, under 
the heading “Remuneration Report” on pages 20 to 23 of the directors’ report (marked as audited) and not in the fi nancial report. 
We have audited these remuneration disclosures.

Directors’ responsibility for the fi nancial report and the AASB 124 remuneration disclosures contained in the Directors’ 
report 
The directors of the company are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the fi nancial report in accordance 
with Australian Accounting Standards (including the Australian Accounting Interpretations) and the Corporations Act 2001. This 
responsibility includes establishing and maintaining internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of the fi nancial 
report that is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies; 
and making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances. In note 2(a), the directors also state, in accordance with 
Australian Accounting Standard AASB 101 Presentation of Financial Statements, that the fi nancial report, comprising the fi nancial 
statements and notes, complies with International Financial Reporting Standards. In note 2(a), the directors also state, in accordance 
with Australian Accounting Standard AASB 101 Presentation of Financial Statements, that the fi nancial report of the Group, 
comprising the fi nancial statements and notes, complies with International Financial Reporting Standards, but that the fi nancial 
report of the Company does not comply.

The directors of the Company are also responsible for the remuneration disclosures contained in the Directors’ report.

Auditor’s responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the fi nancial report based on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with 
Australian Auditing Standards. These Auditing Standards require that we comply with relevant ethical requirements relating to audit 
engagements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the fi nancial report is free from material 
misstatement. Our responsibility is also to express an opinion on the remuneration disclosures contained in the Directors’ report 
based on our audit.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the fi nancial report and the 
remuneration disclosures contained in the Directors’ report. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including 
the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the fi nancial report and the remuneration disclosures contained in the 
Directors’ report, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant 
to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the fi nancial report and the remuneration disclosures contained in the Directors’ 
report in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an 
opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting 
policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of 
the fi nancial report and the remuneration disclosures contained in the Directors’ report. 

We performed the procedures to assess whether in all material respects the fi nancial report presents fairly, in accordance with the 
Corporations Act 2001 and Australian Accounting Standards (including the Australian Accounting Interpretations), a view which is 
consistent with our understanding of the Company’s and the Group’s fi nancial position and of their performance and whether the 
remuneration disclosures are in accordance with Australian Accounting Standard AASB 124.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is suffi cient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.
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Auditor’s opinion on the fi nancial report
In our opinion:

(a) the fi nancial report of HFA Holdings Limited, is in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, including:  

(i) giving a true and fair view of the Company’s and the Group’s fi nancial position as at 30 June 2007 and of its   
performance for the year ended on that date; and 

(ii) complying with Australian Accounting Standards (including the Australian Accounting Interpretations) and   
the Corporations Regulations 2001.

(b) the fi nancial report of the Group also complies with International Financial Reporting Standards as disclosed in   
note 2(a).

Auditor’s opinion on AASB 124 remuneration disclosures contained in the directors’ report
In our opinion, the remuneration disclosures that are contained on pages 20 to 23 of the Remuneration report (marked as audited) 
in the Directors’ report comply with Australian Accounting Standard AASB 124 Related Party Disclosures.

KPMG

Robert S Jones
Partner

Brisbane
24th August 2007

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF 
HFA HOLDINGS LIMITED
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Additional information required by the Australian Stock Exchange Limited Listing Rules and not disclosed in this report is set out below.

SHAREHOLDINGS (as at 24 August 2007)
Substantial shareholders
AMP Limited advised that, as at 21 August 2007, it and its associates had a relevant interest in 10,476,327 shares, which 
represented 5.19% of HFA’s total issued capital.

Merrill Lynch and Co Inc advised that, as at 13 August 2007, it and its associates had a relevant interest in 22,236,959 shares, which 
represented 5.00% of HFA’s total issued capital.

Queensland Investment Corporation advised that, as at 17 July 2007, it and its associates had a relevant interest in 10,129,623 
shares, which represented 5.02% of HFA’s total issued capital.

MFS Alternative Asset Limited advised that, as at 22 June 2007, it and its associates had a relevant interest in 39,038,086 shares, 
which represented 19.34% of HFA’s total issued capital.

FMR Corp and Fidelity International Limited advised that, as at 20 June 2007, it and its associates had a relevant interest in 
26,459,093 shares, which represented 13.11% of HFA’s total issued capital.

Opis Capital Limited advised that, as at 4 May 2007, it and its associates had a relevant interest in 10,962,801 shares, which 
represented 5.43% of HFA’s total issued capital.

Spencer Young as trustee for Spencer Young Family Trust advised that, as at 1 May 2006, it and its associates had a relevant interest 
in 25,366,951 shares, which represented 12.57% of HFA’s total issued capital.

Securities subject to voluntary escrow
HFA employees have entered into voluntary escrow deeds over 16,548,502 ordinary shares that are subject to an escrow period of 
three years that ends on 28 April 2009.

Spencer Young as trustee for Spencer Young Family Trust has entered into a voluntary escrow deed over 25,366,951 ordinary shares 
that are subject to an escrow period of three years that ends on 28 April 2008.

MFS Alternative Asset Limited has entered into a voluntary escrow deed over 39,538,086 ordinary shares that are subject to an 
escrow period that ends on 30 June 2009.

VOTING RIGHTS
Ordinary shares
Refer to note 19.

DISTRIBUTION OF EQUITY SECURITY HOLDERS

Category
Number of equity security holders

Ordinary shares

1 – 1,000 127

1,001 – 5,000 725

5,001 – 10,000 486

10,001 – 100,000 590

100,001 and over 83

2,011

The number of shareholders holding less than a marketable parcel of ordinary shares is 11.

ON-MARKET BUY-BACK
There is no current on-market buy-back.

ASX ADDITIONAL INFORMATION
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TWENTY LARGEST SHAREHOLDERS

Name
Number of Ordinary 

Shares held
Percentage of capital held

%

ANZ Nominees Limited 34,410,202 17.05

Spencer Martin Young 25,366,951 12.57

HSBC Custody Nominees 15,042,240 7.45

National Nominees Limited 12,266,890 6.08

MFS Alternative Asset Limited 4,200,000 5.65

Citicorp Nominees Pty Limited 11,086,603 5.49

Queensland Investment Corporation 10,400,897 5.15

J P Morgan Nominees Australia Limited 9,696,409 4.80

Cogent Nominees Pty Limited 8,066,290 4.00

Oscar Martinis 4,999,091 2.48

Citicorp Nominees Pty Limited 4,630,972 2.29

UBS Wealth Management Australia Nominees Pty Ltd 3,707,785 1.84

Bond Street Custodians Limited 3,683,196 1.83

AMP Life Limited 1,134,901 0.56

Chris Comino 1,041,616 0.52

Invia Custodian Pty Limited 1,033,800 0.51

Jonathan Pain 981,182 0.49

Edmund Nasser 799,091 0.40

Robert White 793,091 0.39

Daniel Abbink 764,296 0.38

UNQUOTED EQUITY SECURITIES
There are no unquoted equity securities.

LISTING OFFER PROCEEDS
For the reporting period the Company used the cash and cash-equivalent assets in a way consistent with its business objectives as 
stated the prospectus dated 31 March 2006.

ASX ADDITIONAL INFORMATION
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HFA HOLDINGS LTD
ABN: 47 101 585 737

REGISTERED OFFICE
Level 5, 151 Macquarie Street
Sydney NSW 2000
Ph: (02) 8302 3333

PRINCIPAL ADMINISTRATIVE OFFICE
Level 14, AMP Place
10 Eagle Street
Brisbane Qld 4000
Ph: (07) 3218 6200

COMPANY SECRETARIES
Ms Amber Stoney
Mr Robert White

AUDITORS OF THE COMPANY
KPMG

UNIT REGISTRY OFFICE
Link Market Services Limited
Level 12, 680 George Street
Sydney NSW 2000

ASX LISTING
The Company is listed on the Australian Stock Exchange
ASX Code Listing: HFA

STOCK EXCHANGE
The Company is listed on the Australian Stock Exchange. The Home Exchange is Melbourne.

OTHER INFORMATION
HFA Holdings Limited, incorporated and domiciled in Australia, is a publicly listed company limited by shares.

CORPORATE DIRECTORY



Sydney 
Level 5, 151 Macquarie Street

Sydney NSW 2000

Melbourne
Level 27, 101 Collins Street

Melbourne VIC 3000 

Brisbane 
Level 14, 10 Eagle Street 

Brisbane QLD 4000

For information on HFA’s investment products contact HFA Asset Management: 

Offi ce:   Level 5, 151 Macquarie Street, Sydney NSW 2000

Mailing Address: GPO Box 1616, Brisbane QLD 4001

Investor Services:  1300 30 90 92

Advisor Services 1300 30 90 93

Facsimilie: (02) 9252 4580

Website:  www.hfainvestments.com.au

E-mail:  contact@hfainvestments.com.au
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